
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
DISCUSSION & ACTION 

CALENDAR 



Agenda Item #10a 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: August 26, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Joe Bettencourt, Community Development and Services Director 
Marti Brown, City Manager  

Subject: WWCRS Inc. Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License, 130 North Butte Street 

Recommendation: 

Adopt Resolution XX-2025 (Attachment 1), approving a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for 
WWCRS Inc. to operate at 130 North Butte Street.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

The City Manager has determined the application is complete, including City Council approval of an 
appeal for CUP 25‑02, and the item is being considered by the City Council in accordance with WMC 
9.20.071(3). 

Background: 

The City established its cannabis regulatory program in 2017 through Ordinance 736-2017. The Council 
adopted Resolution 32-2017, which set the maximum number of retail/dispensary cannabis business 
licenses at two, established an initial 1,000-foot separation from churches, schools, licensed 
daycares/preschools, playgrounds, and parks, and directed the Planning Commission to identify 
appropriate zoning for such businesses.  

In 2018, Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 allowed retail/dispensary businesses in certain 
commercial and combined zones with a conditional use permit.  

On May 28, 2024, the Council adopted Resolution 19-2024 removing setback requirements from 
churches, licensed daycares, playgrounds, and parks while retaining school setbacks; subsequent 
Council direction culminated in a 600-foot school setback and expanded zoning eligibility to include the 
Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial districts. 

To enhance oversight and transparency, the Council established an Ad Hoc Committee to work with 
the City Manager and Community Development and Services (CD&S) Director on Cannabis Dispensary 
application review. WWCRS Inc. (WWCRS) submitted their Phase One application on March 6, 2025. 
The City Manager and CD&S Director determined that WWCRS’ Phase One application was complete 
on March 21, 2025, and authorized them to proceed to the Phase Two application. WWCRS submitted 



all required Phase Two materials, which were reviewed by the City Manager, CD&S Director, and the 
Ad Hoc Committee. Their application was deemed complete, and review of their Conditional Use 
Permit application was scheduled for the July 1, 2025, Planning Commission meeting. However, the 
300-foot setback letters for the July 1, 2025, meeting were not sent out in advance of the 10-day
notice requirement. As a result, the meeting was continued to the August 5, 2025, Planning
Commission meeting.

On August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission denied CUP 25-02. WWCRS appealed the Planning 
Commission decision scheduled for the August 26, 2025, City Council meeting.  

Discussion & Analysis: 

According to the WMC 9.20.071 Retail/dispensary business license applications, Section (3) Review by 
City Council, (b)The City Council shall, in its sole discretion: 

(i) Require any additional information deemed necessary or appropriate for consideration of
issuance of the license; or

(ii) Deny the application and state the grounds therefore; or

(iii) By resolution, vote to issue the license, subject to any reasonable conditions (Attachment 2)
imposed by the City Council, upon applicant’s payment of the business cannabis license fee
established by the City Council.

According to the WMC 9.20.075 Denials, revocations and suspensions, Section (3) Grounds for Denial 
of Application, License Renewal, or Suspension or Revocation of License, the granting of a 
retail/dispensary cannabis business license, or a renewal thereof, may be disapproved, and an existing 
license revoked or suspended if: 

(a) The applicant or licensee has knowingly made a false statement in the application or in any
reports or other documents furnished to the city of Willows.

(b) The owner of the business premises withholds or revokes consent for the sale of cannabis and
cannabis products on the premises.

(c) The licensee has violated the terms of this code or California law relating to the conduct of
commercial cannabis activities.

(d) Revocation or suspension of the required state-issued license.

(e) The licensee failed to properly and truthfully report sales of cannabis and cannabis products,
and/or failed to pay all fees and taxes in full as and when due.

(f) The licensee has engaged in the sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products in a
location other than the licensed premises.



(g) The licensee has engaged in or permitted the sale or distribution of other controlled
substances on or from the premises.

(h) Excessive traffic, neighborhood and/or law enforcement activity at the location of the
applicant’s or licensee’s business premises.

(i) The licensee’s failure to maintain the premises in a secure manner and/or to protect the safety
and security of employees and customers.

(j) The granting or renewing of the license would perpetuate or encourage any of the following:
(i) Engaging in the illegal sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products or other
controlled substances;
(ii) Providing cannabis or cannabis products to minors;
(iii) Diversion of cannabis or cannabis products to jurisdictions outside of the state where
cannabis and cannabis products are unlawful under state or local law;
(iv) Trafficking of other illegal drugs or facilitation of other illegal activity;
(v) Violence and the use of firearms in the sale or distribution of cannabis and cannabis
products;
(vi) The applicant or licensee or a cannabis business owner has been sanctioned by a
licensing authority or other city or county for unauthorized commercial cannabis activity;
(vii) The applicant or licensee violates any provision of the MCRSA, AUMA, this article or
any other permits issued by the city for the cannabis activity.

(k) The cannabis business owner has been convicted of an offense that is substantially related to
the qualifications, functions, or duties of the cannabis business for which the application is made,
which includes but is not limited to:

(i) A violent felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 667.5(c).
(ii) A serious felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 1192.7.
(iii) A felony conviction involving fraud, deceit or embezzlement.
(iv) A felony conviction for drug trafficking with an enhancement pursuant to Health and
Safety Code Section 11370.4 or 113798.
(v) A felony conviction for hiring, employing, or using a minor in transporting, carrying,
selling, giving away, preparing for sale, or peddling any controlled substance to a minor;
or selling, offering to sell, furnishing, offering to furnish, administering, or giving any
controlled substance to a minor.

(l) Except as provided in subsection (3)(k) of this section, an application for a permit shall not be
denied if the sole ground for denial is based upon a prior conviction of California Health and
Safety Code Section 11357. An application for a permit also shall not be denied if the state would
be prohibited from denying a license pursuant to either California Business and Professions Code
Section 26057(b)(5) or Section 26059. Conviction of any controlled substance felony subsequent
to permit issuance shall be grounds for revocation of a permit or denial of the renewal of a
permit. [Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17].



Staff recommended two additional Conditions of Approval (Attachment 2) regarding revenue sharing 
and binding of all records related to this application. The council may add additional conditions or 
modify/remove conditions that were recommended by staff. 

The site lies within the Central Commercial district where retail/dispensary uses are conditionally 
allowed and as evidenced by CUP 25-02, the project meets applicable zoning and development 
standards. The record demonstrates compliance with operating requirements in the WMC, including 
setback requirements, hours of operation, security protocols such as access control and camera 
coverage, cash-handling, alarm procedures, odor, labeling and packaging consistent with State law, 
routine inspections, and accurate sales and inventory accounting. Delivery operations will adhere to 
State and local regulations. 

Staff find this action exempt from CEQA under Guidelines §15301 (Existing Facilities) because licensing 
a retail operation in an existing building does not expand the building envelope and is served by 
existing utilities and public services. 

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

Priority Financial Stability, Goal #2: Seek Cost Savings and Revenue Generation Opportunities. The 
cannabis business license and regulatory fees recover program costs while retail sales increase the 
City’s sustainable revenue base and General Fund.  

Fiscal Impact: 

Approval of the license is expected to generate new sales tax revenue. In addition, the applicant will 
remit five percent (5%) of gross receipts to the City, separate from and in addition to sales tax. If a 
cannabis business tax is approved by voters, that voter‑approved tax will apply in lieu of the five 
percent (5%) remittance. There may also be increased foot traffic in the downtown district that 
benefits nearby businesses. 

 Attachments: 

 Attachment 1: Cannabis Business License Resolution
 Attachment 2: Proposed City Council Conditions of Approval



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS APPROVING A RETAIL/DISPENSARY 
CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE FOR WWCRS INC. FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 130 N. BUTTE STREET, 
ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER 003-044-005 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows regulates cannabis businesses pursuant to Willows Municipal 
Code (WMC) Chapter 9.20, which establishes a phase process for retail/dispensary cannabis business 
license applications with final City Council consideration under WMC 9.20.071; and  

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 32-2017 
establishing, among other things, a maximum of two retail/dispensary cannabis business licenses 
within the City and initial separation standards, thereby setting the framework for subsequent 
licensing actions; and  

WHEREAS, in 2018 the City Council adopted Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 to allow 
cannabis retail/dispensary uses in certain commercial and combined zones with a Conditional Use 
Permit; and in 2024–2025 the City modernized the program by removing certain setbacks and 
expanding eligibility to the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial zones; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant, WWCRS Inc. (“Applicant”), submitted a Phase One application that 
the City Manager determined complete, after which the Applicant submitted all Phase Two materials, 
which was also determined complete by the City Manager, Community Development and Services 
Director and the Cannabis Retail Business Application Ad hoc Committee. 

WHEREAS, on August 26, 2025, the City Council approved the appeal of CUP 25-02 for the 
proposed retail/dispensary at 130 N. Butte Street with conditions addressing security, odor control, 
operations, delivery compliance, recordkeeping, and other standards, thereby completing the zoning 
entitlement for Phase Two; and the City Council’s resolution approving CUP 25-02 is incorporated into 
the record by this reference; and  

WHEREAS, staff prepared a City Council staff report for the August 26, 2025 meeting describing 
the project, documenting completion of Phases One and Two, and recommending approval of a 
business license pursuant to WMC 9.20.071(3); that staff report is incorporated into the record by this 
reference; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that approval of the license is categorically exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Guidelines section 15301 (Existing Facilities) 
because it consists of operating a commercial retail use within an existing building, does not expand 
the building envelope, and is served by existing utilities and public services.  



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Willows as follows: 

Section 1. Approval. The City Council approves a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for 
WWCRS Inc. to operate a retail/dispensary with delivery services at 130 N. Butte Street (APN 003-044-
005), consistent with WMC Chapter 9.20 and the City Council’s approval of CUP 25-02. 

Section 2. Conditions of Approval. The licensee shall comply with all Conditions of Approval as 
approved by the City Council at its August 26, 2025 meeting and all applicable provisions of WMC 
Chapter 9.20.  

Section 3. CEQA. The City Council finds this action exempt under CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption as appropriate. 

Section 4. Term. The initial license term shall be one year from the date of issuance of the Certificate 
of Authorization by the City Manager. 

Section 5. Fiscal. The City of Willows will collect five percent (5%) of gross receipts in addition to sales 
tax. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, WWCRS Inc. will pay the voter‑approved tax in lieu of the 
five percent (5%) remittance. 

Section 6. Enforcement. Failure to comply with any applicable condition of this approval, CUP 25-02, 
WMC Chapter 9.20, or State law shall be grounds for corrective action, suspension, or revocation 
pursuant to WMC 9.20.075, in addition to any other remedies available at law. 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption on August 26, 
2025. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Willows this 26th day of August 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

Evan Hutson, Mayor Karleen Price, City Clerk 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
For Retail / Dispensary Cannabis Business License 

        WWCRS Inc. 
130 N. Butte Street /APN: 003-044-005 

City Council Approval Date: August 26, 2025 

GENERAL 

(1) The City of Willows will collect five percent (5%) of the gross sale receipts in addition to sales tax
and any other payment made to the City of Willows. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters,
WWCRS Inc. will be responsible for paying the voter approved tax in lieu of the five percent (5%)
revenue sharing.

(2) The entire administrative record for this license (the “Record”) is incorporated herein by
reference as though fully set forth and is binding on the applicant/licensee. The Record includes,
without limitation: (i) the Phase One application and all attachments; (ii) the Phase Two
application and all attachments; (iii) all supplemental or revised submittals; (iv) all responses to
City requests for additional information; (v) all written and electronic correspondence, including
emails and text messages, and any verbal statements made by or on behalf of the applicant to
City staff or officials as reflected in the City’s files, notes, recordings, minutes, or transcripts; and
(vi) all Planning Commission and City Council agendas, staff reports, findings, resolutions,
minutes, and conditions. All representations, commitments, plans, specifications, and
operational measures described by the applicant anywhere in the Record constitute enforceable
conditions of this approval and material terms of the City’s action.

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Conditions of Approval and agrees to be bound by 
and fully comply with all Conditions of Approval as approved by the City Council. 

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Conditions of Approval and agrees to be bound by and 
fully comply with all Conditions of Approval as approved by the City Council. 

WWCRS Inc. 
4 
Vallejo, CA 94590 
File #B20250153826 

Margaret Sharkey, Incorporator Date 
PO Box 4160 
Vallejo, CA 94590 

Homar O Crespo, Agent Date 
600 Marin St. 
Vallejo, CA 94590 



Agenda Item #10b 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: August 26, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Joe Bettencourt, Community Development and Services Director 
Marti Brown, City Manager  

Subject: Cali Love Willows, LLC. Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License, 157 North Butte 
Street 

Recommendation: 

Adopt Resolution XX-2025 (Attachment 1), approving a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for 
Cali Love Willows, LLC. to operate at 157 North Butte Street.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

The City Manager has determined the application is complete, including Planning Commission issuance 
of CUP 25‑01, and the item is being considered by the City Council in accordance with WMC 
9.20.071(3). 

Background: 

The City established its cannabis regulatory program in 2017 through Ordinance 736-2017. The Council 
adopted Resolution 32-2017, which set the maximum number of retail/dispensary cannabis business 
licenses at two, established an initial 1,000-foot separation from churches, schools, licensed 
daycares/preschools, playgrounds, and parks, and directed the Planning Commission to identify 
appropriate zoning for such businesses. In 2018, Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 allowed 
retail/dispensary businesses in certain commercial and combined zones with a conditional use permit.  

On May 28, 2024, the Council adopted Resolution 19-2024 removing setback requirements from 
churches, licensed daycares, playgrounds, and parks while retaining school setbacks; subsequent 
Council direction culminated in a 600-foot school setback and expanded zoning eligibility to include the 
Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial districts. 

To enhance oversight and transparency the Council established an Ad Hoc Committee to work with the 
City Manager and Community Development and Services (CD&S) Director on application review. Cali 
Love Willows, LLC. (Cali Love) submitted their Phase One application on March 5, 2025. The City 
Manager and CD&S Director determined that Cali Love’s Phase One application was complete on 
March 21, 2025, and authorized them to proceed to the Phase Two application. Cali Love submitted all 
required Phase Two materials, which were reviewed by the City Manager, CD&S Director, and the Ad-



Hoc Committee. Their application was deemed complete and they were scheduled for review of their 
Conditional Use Permit on the July 1 Planning Commission meeting. The 300-foot letters for the July 1, 
2025 meeting were not sent out in advance of the 10-day notice requirement. Therefore, the meeting 
was continued to the August 5, 2025 Planning Commission meeting. 

On August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission approved CUP 25-01 by resolution (Attachment 2) and 
approved the Conditions of Approval (Attachment 3).  

Discussion & Analysis: 

According to WMC 9.20.071, Retail/dispensary business license applications, Section (3) Review by City 
Council, (b)The City Council shall, in its sole discretion: 

(i) Require any additional information deemed necessary or appropriate for
consideration of issuance of the license; or

(ii) Deny the application and state the grounds therefore; or

(iii) By resolution, vote to issue the license, subject to any reasonable conditions
(Attachment 2) imposed by the City Council, upon applicant’s payment of the business
cannabis license fee established by the City Council.

According to WMC 9.20.075 Denials, revocations and suspensions, Section (3) Grounds for Denial of 
Application, License Renewal, or Suspension or Revocation of License. The granting of a 
retail/dispensary cannabis business license, or a renewal thereof, may be disapproved, and an existing 
license revoked or suspended if: 

(a) The applicant or licensee has knowingly made a false statement in the application or in any
reports or other documents furnished to the city of Willows.

(b) The owner of the business premises withholds or revokes consent for the sale of cannabis and
cannabis products on the premises.

(c) The licensee has violated the terms of this code or California law relating to the conduct of
commercial cannabis activities.

(d) Revocation or suspension of the required state-issued license.

(e) The licensee failed to properly and truthfully report sales of cannabis and cannabis products,
and/or failed to pay all fees and taxes in full as and when due.

(f) The licensee has engaged in the sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products in a
location other than the licensed premises.

(g) The licensee has engaged in or permitted the sale or distribution of other controlled
substances on or from the premises.



(h) Excessive traffic, neighborhood and/or law enforcement activity at the location of the
applicant’s or licensee’s business premises.

(i) The licensee’s failure to maintain the premises in a secure manner and/or to protect the safety
and security of employees and customers.

(j) The granting or renewing of the license would perpetuate or encourage any of the following:
(i) Engaging in the illegal sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products or other
controlled substances;
(ii) Providing cannabis or cannabis products to minors;
(iii) Diversion of cannabis or cannabis products to jurisdictions outside of the state where
cannabis and cannabis products are unlawful under state or local law;
(iv) Trafficking of other illegal drugs or facilitation of other illegal activity;
(v) Violence and the use of firearms in the sale or distribution of cannabis and cannabis
products;
(vi) The applicant or licensee or a cannabis business owner has been sanctioned by a
licensing authority or other city or county for unauthorized commercial cannabis activity;
(vii) The applicant or licensee violates any provision of the MCRSA, AUMA, this article or
any other permits issued by the city for the cannabis activity.

(k) The cannabis business owner has been convicted of an offense that is substantially related to
the qualifications, functions, or duties of the cannabis business for which the application is made,
which includes but is not limited to:

(i) A violent felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 667.5(c).
(ii) A serious felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 1192.7.
(iii) A felony conviction involving fraud, deceit or embezzlement.
(iv) A felony conviction for drug trafficking with an enhancement pursuant to Health and
Safety Code Section 11370.4 or 113798.
(v) A felony conviction for hiring, employing, or using a minor in transporting, carrying,
selling, giving away, preparing for sale, or peddling any controlled substance to a minor;
or selling, offering to sell, furnishing, offering to furnish, administering, or giving any
controlled substance to a minor.

(l) Except as provided in subsection (3)(k) of this section, an application for a permit shall not be
denied if the sole ground for denial is based upon a prior conviction of California Health and
Safety Code Section 11357. An application for a permit also shall not be denied if the state would
be prohibited from denying a license pursuant to either California Business and Professions Code
Section 26057(b)(5) or Section 26059. Conviction of any controlled substance felony subsequent to
permit issuance shall be grounds for revocation of a permit or denial of the renewal of a permit.
[Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17].



Staff recommend two additional Conditions of Approval (Attachment 4) regarding revenue sharing and 
binding of all records related to this application. The council can add additional conditions or 
modify/remove conditions that were recommended by staff.  

The site lies within the Central Commercial district where retail/dispensary uses are conditionally 
allowed and as evidenced by CUP 25-01, the project meets applicable zoning and development 
standards. The record demonstrates compliance with operating requirements in the WMC, including 
setback requirements, hours of operation, security protocols such as access control and camera 
coverage, cash-handling, alarm procedures, odor, labeling and packaging consistent with State law, 
routine inspections, and accurate sales and inventory accounting. Delivery operations will adhere to 
State and local regulations. 

Staff find this action exempt from CEQA under Guidelines §15301 (Existing Facilities) because licensing 
a retail operation in an existing building does not expand the building envelope and is served by 
existing utilities and public services. 

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

Financial Stability Goal 2: Seek Cost Savings and Revenue Generation Opportunities. The cannabis 
business license and regulatory fees recover program costs while retail sales increase the City’s 
sustainable revenue base and General Fund.  

Fiscal Impact: 

Approval of the license is expected to generate new sales tax revenue. In addition, the applicant will 
remit two percent (2%) of gross receipts to the City, separate from and in addition to sales tax. If a 
cannabis business tax is approved by voters, that voter‑approved tax will apply in lieu of the two 
percent (2%) remittance. There may also be increased foot traffic in the downtown district that 
benefits nearby businesses.  

Attachments: 

 Attachment 1: Cannabis Business License Resolution
 Attachment 2: Planning Commission Resolution
 Attachment 3: Planning Commission Conditions of Approval
 Attachment 4: Proposed City Council Conditions of Approval



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS APPROVING A RETAIL/DISPENSARY 
CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE FOR CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC. FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N. 
BUTTE STREET, ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows regulates cannabis businesses pursuant to Willows Municipal 
Code (WMC) Chapter 9.20, which establishes a phase process for retail/dispensary cannabis business 
license applications with final City Council consideration under WMC 9.20.071; and  

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 32-2017 
establishing, among other things, a maximum of two retail/dispensary cannabis business licenses 
within the City and initial separation standards, thereby setting the framework for subsequent 
licensing actions; and  

WHEREAS, in 2018 the City Council adopted Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 to allow 
cannabis retail/dispensary uses in certain commercial and combined zones with a Conditional Use 
Permit; and in 2024–2025 the City modernized the program by removing certain setbacks and 
expanding eligibility to the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial zones; and 

WHEREAS, the applicant, Cali Love Willows, LLC (“Applicant”), submitted a Phase One 
application that the City Manager determined complete, after which the Applicant submitted all Phase 
Two materials, which was also determined complete by the City Manager, Community Development 
and Services Director and the Cannabis Retail Business Application Ad hoc Committee. 

WHEREAS, on August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission approved CUP 25-01 for the proposed 
retail/dispensary at 157 N. Butte Street with conditions addressing security, odor control, operations, 
delivery compliance, recordkeeping, and other standards, thereby completing the zoning entitlement 
for Phase Two; and the Planning Commission’s resolution approving CUP 25-01 is incorporated into the 
record by this reference; and  

WHEREAS, staff prepared a City Council staff report for the August 26, 2025 meeting describing 
the project, documenting completion of Phases One and Two, and recommending approval of a 
business license pursuant to WMC 9.20.071(3); that staff report is incorporated into the record by this 
reference; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that approval of the license is categorically exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Guidelines section 15301 (Existing Facilities) 
because it consists of operating a commercial retail use within an existing building, does not expand 
the building envelope, and is served by existing utilities and public services.  



NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Willows as follows: 

Section 1. Approval. The City Council approves a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for Cali 
Love Willows, LLC to operate a retail/dispensary with delivery services at 157 N. Butte Street (APN 002-
162-006), consistent with WMC Chapter 9.20 and the Planning Commission’s approval of CUP 25-01.

Section 2. Conditions of Approval. The licensee shall comply with all Conditions of Approval as 
approved by the City Council at its August 26, 2025 meeting, together with all conditions contained in 
CUP 25-01 and all applicable provisions of WMC Chapter 9.20.  

Section 3. CEQA. The City Council finds this action exempt under CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption as appropriate. 

Section 4. Term. The initial license term shall be one year from the date of issuance of the Certificate 
of Authorization by the City Manager. 

Section 5. Fiscal. The City of Willows will collect two percent (2%) of gross receipts in addition to sales 
tax. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, Cali Love Willows, LLC will pay the voter‑approved tax in 
lieu of the two percent (2%) remittance. 

Section 6. Enforcement. Failure to comply with any applicable condition of this approval, CUP 25-01, 
WMC Chapter 9.20, or State law shall be grounds for corrective action, suspension, or revocation 
pursuant to WMC 9.20.075, in addition to any other remedies available at law. 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption on August 26, 
2025. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Willows this 26th day of August 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

Evan Hutson, Mayor Karleen Price, City Clerk 



l City of Willows 

Resolution 12-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS GRANTING CONDITIONAL 

USE PERMIT APPROVAL OF A NEW RETAIL/ DISPENSARY CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE (CUP 25-01) 

TO CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N BUTTE STREET, ASSESSORS 

PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the applicant, CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC, has submitted an application for Conditional 

Use Permit approval to allow the operation of a new retail/ dispensary cannabis business license; and 

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.55.030 requires approval of a Conditional 

Use Permit for the operation of a cannabis retail/ dispensary business; and 

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 9.20.070 - 9.20.080 establishes processes 

and general conditions for retail/ dispensary cannabis business licenses; and 

WHEREAS, notice of the Planning Commission meeting held on August 5, 2025, was published in 

a newspaper of general circulation in the City in accordance with law, and mailing to property owners 

within 300 feet were sent; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did, on August 5, 2025 hold a public hearing to consider all 

public oral and written comments, letters and documents, staff reports, and all other documents and 

evidence which are a part of the Record; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission does find that the proposed project qualifies as a 

Categorical Exemption under Section 15301 {Class 1) pursuant to the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.135.050, the following findings are 

made for the approval of a use permit: 

1) That the use is consistent with the purposes of the district in which the site is located.

Willows Municipal Code (WMC} Chapter 18.55.030(20) allows for cannabis retail I

dispensary business within the Central Commercial zone with approval of a conditional

use permit.

2) That the proposed location of the use and the conditions under which it may be operated

or maintained will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially

injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity.

The location of the cannabis retail I dispensary business would be in an existing

commercial building. Minor tenant improvements would be required. Conditions of

Approval outlined in WMC Chapter 9.20.080 including hours of operation, odor control

and security measures would be included in the project to ensure the business is operated

Attachment 4



and maintained in a manner that is not detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare 

of those in the vicinity. 

3) That the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan. 

Commercial businesses are allowed within the land use designation of Central 

Commercial. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of Willows does 

hereby find that the Conditional Use Permit to allow the operation of a retail / dispensary cannabis 

business license is consistent with the City of Willows Municipal Code and General Plan, and findings 

incorporated, and hereby approves Conditional Use Permit #CUP 25-01, subject to the attached 

conditions of approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Willows this 5th day of August 2025, 

by the following vote: 

AYES: Vice Chair Corum, Commissioners Ocampo and Nygard 

NOES: Chair Brott 

ABSENT: Commissioner Valencia 

ABSTAIN: None 

APPROVED: 

/4?hMMr k-,~ 
Sherry Brott, Chair 

ATTESTED: 



Attachment 3



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8/20/25

8/20/25







































































































































City of Willows 
Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Department 
201 N. Lassen St. 
Willows, CA 95988 

May 4, 2025 

Cali Love Willows 
Attn: Melissa Wight and Stephen Sutton 
PO BOX 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

Subject: Additional Information Required for Phase 2 of the Cannabis Business License 
Application  

Dear Ms. Wight and Mr. Sutton, 

After reviewing your Phase 2 Cannabis Business License Application for 157 N. Butte St., we 
require additional information to proceed with the evaluation. Please provide the following 
documents and details no later than Wednesday May 14, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. 

1. Item 1: Security Plan –
a) The floor plan shows an ID check desk; however, it appears that this desk is not

in a separate room from where the cannabis products are sold. Is that correct? If
so, does this mean that visual observation by the security guard is the sole
method to prevent unauthorized access to the sales area?

2. Item 2: Floor Plan –

a) Identify the delivery and waste pickup locations, it is not shown on the
submitted site plan or floor plan.

b) The floor plan is very difficult to read, can an electronic version be provided or a
clearer hard copy?

c) Is the restroom employee only or open to the public?
d) Please describe the contents and offerings of the 'DRINKS' section."

3. Item 5: Neighborhood Context Map-  

a) Please update the map to illustrate a 600-foot setback radius and indicate 
whether any schools are located within this area.  



4. Item 6: Lighting Plan –

a) Will security lighting be installed on the building's exterior, particularly in areas
designated for deliveries?

5. Item 8: Insurance-  

a) An actual Certificate of Insurance needs to be provided, not just a quote. 

6. Item 11: Financial Viability- 

a) The 3-year proforma was not included, please provide and include information 
on employees (part time/full time, will they receive benefits, schedule for onsite 
manager(s)).

b) The bank verification letter needs to show funds available for business startup,
please provide a verified fund amount.

Timely submission of clear and complete documents by the specified deadline is essential to 
continue processing your application. We appreciate your cooperation and look forward to 
receiving the requested information.

Respectfully,

Joe Bettencourt
Community Development and Services Director
City of Willows

Respectfully,

J B tt t





retractable crowd
control stanchion

POTTED TREE



�



Neighborhood Context Map (Question #3)





Lighting Plan (Question #4)





Insurance Certificate (Question #8)





Additional Phase 2 Follow-Up Email





Cali Love Willows City of Willows Phase 2 Cannabis License 
Application Additional Follow Up Questions 

1. Provided

2. We will be open approximately 4 to 6 months after receiving approval from the City
of Willows. It takes approximately 3-6 months to obtain a state license from the
DCC if done correctly. We typically run our licensing concurrently, applying for the
city/county and state license at the same time. Since this is a competitive bid, we

-6
month timeline for opening day.

3. While another similar business may be located across the street, we do not
consider them direct competition. Our business has exclusive agreements with
multiple award-winning vendors, including premium cultivators and Melissa's
world-class cannabis from the Emerald Triangle, ensuring a unique product
selection that is unavailable elsewhere in the area.

In addition to our curated cannabis offerings, our location includes a distinctive art
gallery environment that enhances the customer experience and further
differentiates us in the market. The business across the street does not offer this
type of atmosphere or product mix.

As a result, their presence does not impact our financial projections, proforma, or
strategic positioning. Our partnerships, curated selection, and elevated retail
experience position us uniquely in the local market.

4. We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-
commerce website. Yes, 
Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery insurance provider
in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must return during
business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. All deliveries must be
delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will carry
physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting



to ensure customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the 
correct person who placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked 
container that will only be opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device 
will accompany our delivery driver recording delivery routes for records purposes 
per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in compliance with all DCC regulations 
15415 -15421. 



Delivery Information



Cali Love Willows Cannabis Delivery Procedures 

We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-commerce 
website. We will use Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery 
insurance provider in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must 
return during business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. Furthermore, 
deliveries will not occur between 7pm and 8am to comply with City of Willows Code. All 
deliveries must be delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will 
carry physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting products 

customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the correct person who 
placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked container that will only be 
opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device will accompany our delivery driver 
recording delivery routes for records purposes per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in 
compliance with all DCC regulations 15415 -15421. DCC Delivery Regulations are attached 
for clarity. 

§15415. Delivery Employees. (a) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be performed
by a delivery employee who is directly employed by a licensed retailer. (b) Each delivery 
employee of a licensed retailer shall be at least 21 years of age. (c) All deliveries of cannabis 
goods shall be made in person. A delivery of cannabis goods shall not be made through the 

only during the hours of operation established by section 15403. Delivery employees shall 
return to the licensed premises after making their last delivery of the day if they have any 
unsold cannabis goods to return to the premises. (e) During the process of delivery, the 
licensed retailer’s delivery employee may not engage in any activities except for cannabis 
goods delivery and necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair stops. (f) A delivery employee of a 
licensed retailer shall, during deliveries, carry a copy of the retailer’s current license, a copy 
of the QR Co
subsection (d), the employee’s government-
badge provided by the employer pursuant to section 15043. A delivery employee shall 
provide a 

e of the 



accurate list of the retailer’s delivery employees and shall provide the list to the Department 

eries Facilitated 
by Technology Platforms. (a) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not sell or 
otherwise transfer any cannabis goods to a customer through the use of an unlicensed third 
party, intermediary business, broker, or any other business or entity. Medicinal and Adult Use 

section, a licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness may contract with a service that 
provides a technology platform to facilitate the sale and delivery of cannabis goods, in 

not allow for delivery of cannabis goods by the technology platform service provider. (2) The 
licensed retail
cannabis goods with the technology platform service provider, or otherwise provide for a 
percentage or portion of the cannabis goods sales to the technology platform service 
provider. (3) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not advertise or market 
cannabis goods in conjunction with the technology platform service provider, outside of the 
technology platform, and shall ensure that the technology platform service provider does 
not use the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's license number or legal business 
name on any advertisement or marketing that primarily promotes the services of the 
technology platform. (4) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall ensure the 

for sale on or through the technology platform shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed 
retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business 
Customers placing an order for cannabis goods through the technology platform shall be 
able to easily identify the licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness that each cannabis 
good is being ordered or purchased from. This information shall be available to the customer 

sales invoices and receipts, including any receipts provided to the customer, shall disclose, 
at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business name and 

Code.  

cannabis goods to a physical address in California. (b) A delivery employee shall not leave 
nnabis 

Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 117 (c) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis 



goods to an address located on publicly owned land or any address on land or in a building 

for a tribe or an individual tribal member unless the delivery is authorized by and consistent 
with applicable tribal law. (d) A delivery employee may deliver to any jurisdiction within the 

provisions of this division. (e) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to a 
school providing instruction in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or 

usiness and Professions Code.  

carrying cannabis goods for delivery, shall only travel in an enclosed motor vehicle. Any 
vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall be operated by a delivery employee of 
the licensee. A vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall not have any marking or 
other indications on the exterior of the vehicle that may indicate that the delivery employee 
is carrying cannabis goods for delivery. Only the licensee or an employee of the retailer 
licensee for whom delivery is being performed shall be in the delivery vehicle. (b) While 
carrying cannabis goods for delivery, a licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall ensure the 
cannabis goods are not visible to the public. Cannabis goods shall be stored in a secure, fully 
enclosed trunk that cannot be accessed from inside the vehicle, or in a secured area or 

solid or locking metal partitions, cages, or high-strength shatterproof acrylic can be used to 
create a secure compartment in the fully enclosed vehicle. The secured area may be 
comprised on three sides by any part of the body of the vehicle, provided the parts of the 
vehicle used for the purposes of this section are shatterproof and are not made of glass. (c) 
A licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall not leave cannabis goods in an unattended 

cle alarm 
system. Any cannabis goods left in an unattended vehicle must be stored in a container as 

 for identifying the 
geographic location of the delivery vehicle and recording a history of all locations traveled to 

by the licensee and used for delivery only. The device shall be either permanently or 

to the delivery vehicle and shall remain active and inside of the delivery vehicle at all times 
during delivery. At all times, the licensed retailer shall be able to identify the geographic 
location of all delivery vehicles that are making deliveries for the licensed retailer and 
document the history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaged in 



The history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaging in delivery shall 

shall provide the Department with information regarding any motor vehicle used for the 

 Motor Vehicles registration information. 
(f) Any motor vehicle used by a licensed retailer to deliver cannabis goods is subject to
inspection by the Department. Vehicles used to deliver cannabis goods may be stopped and
inspected by the Department at any 

employee shall not carry cannabis goods in the delivery vehicle with a value in excess of 
$10,000 at any time. (b) For the purposes of this section, the value of cannabis goods shall 
be determined using the current retail price of all cannabis goods carried by, or within the 
delivery vehicle of, the licensed retailer's delivery employee. (c) A delivery employee may 
only carry cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, branded merchandise of any licensee, or 
promotional materials in the delivery vehicle and may only perform deliveries for one 
licensed retailer at a time. A delivery employee must depart and return to the same licensed 
premises before taking possession of any cannabis goods from another licensee to perform 

must have a delivery inventory ledger of all cannabis goods provided to the licensed retailer's 
delivery employee. The contents of the delivery inventory ledger must comply with the 

delivery employee shall maintain the delivery inventory ledger in hard copy or electronically, 
the latter of which may be an electronic copy maintained in the track and trace system. The 

remaining inventory carried by the delivery employee. The delivery inventory ledger must 

entered into the track Medicinal and Adult Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 
he delivery trip 

occurred. (e) The licensed retailer's delivery employee shall maintain a log that includes all 
stops from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee leaves the licensed premises 
to the time that the licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises, 
and the reason for each stop. The log shall be turned in to the licensed retailer when the 
licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises. The licensed retailer 
must maintain the log as a comm



The log may be maintained electronically. (f) Prior to arrival at any delivery location, the 

ectronically or in hard 

delivery was made, and the signature of the cu

employee left the licensed pre
receipts for cannabis goods carried by the delivery employee, in the delivery vehicle, or any 

time the licensed retailer's delivery employee left the licensed premises up to the time of the 

be performed for a 30-minute period, the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not 

breaks shall not count toward the 30-minute period. (i) Upon returning to the licensed 
premises, all undelivered cannabis goods shall be returned to the licensed retailer’s 
inventory and recorded within the track and trace system in accordance with section 

ns Code.  

employees shall not consume cannabis or cannabis products while delivering cannabis 

Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 120  

e number 

customer and a licensed retailer-

(7) A detailed description of all cannabis goods r
include the weight, volume, or any other accurate measure of the amount of all cannabis

cost of the cannabis goods, a



delivery, the date and time the delivery was made, and the handwritten or electronic 
signature of the customer who received the delivery. (b) At the time of the delivery, the 
delivery employee of the retailer shall provide the customer who placed the order with a hard 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an employee number is a distinct number assigned by a
licensed retailer to an employee that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
employee in documents or records using the employee number rather than the employee's
full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the employee associated with each

a customer number is a distinct number assigned by a licensed retailer to a customer that
would allow the licensed retailer to identify the customer in documents or records using the
customer number rather than the customer's full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to

Department. Authority 

Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 121

§15421. Delivery Route. While making deliveries of cannabis goods, a licensed
retailer's delivery employee shall only travel from the retailer's licensed premises to the 

livery 
address back to the retailer's licensed premises. A delivery employee of a licensed retailer 
shall not deviate from the delivery path described in this section, except for necessary rest, 
fuel, or vehicle repair stops, or because road conditions make continued use of the route 

 



201 North Lassen • Willows, California 95988 • (530) 934-7041 • FAX (530) 934-7402 

City of Willows 
Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
201 N. Lassen St. 
Willows, CA 95988 

March 21, 2025 

Cali Love Willows 
Attn: Melissa Wight and Stephen Sutton 
PO BOX 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

Subject: Approval of Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application – Eligibility for Phase 2 

Dear Ms. Wight and Mr. Sutton, 

We are pleased to inform you that your Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application for 157 
N. Butte St. has been approved. As a result, you are now eligible to submit a Phase 2 application
for further review and consideration.

As part of the Phase 2 application process, please ensure that you provide all required items.  
We have provided a sample table of contents as Attachment 1 to this letter. Please number all 
pages and reference them in the table of contents. Timely submission of these materials is 
essential to ensure the continued processing of your application. Please ensure all documents 
are clear, complete, and submitted within the specified timeframe. 

Should you require any clarification, please do not hesitate to reach out to 
planning@cityofwillows.org. We appreciate your cooperation and look forward to receiving 
your Phase 2 application. 

Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
City of Willows 



Cannabis Business License Phase 2 Application

Table of Contents

1. Security Plan………………………………………………………………………………………Page 1-11

2. Floor Plan…………………………………………………………………………………………. Page 12-16

3. Site Plan ……………………………………………………………………………………………Page 17

4. Accessibility Plan………………………………………………………………………………..Page 18-19

5. Neighborhood Context Map……………………………………………………………….…Page 20

6. Lighting Plan………………………………………………………………………………….……Page 21-24

7. Zoning Code Compliance……………………………………………………………....…….Page 25

8. Insurance………………………………………………………………………………….….……Page 26

9. Fiscal………………………………………………………………………………………………...Page 27-29

10. Experience…………………………………………………………………………………….… Page 30-32

11. Financial Viability………………………………………………………………………….……Page 33

12. City Authorization………………………………………………………………………….……Page 34

13. Reporting and Audit……………………………………………………………………….……Page 35-42

………………………………………………………………….……Page 43

Attachment 1



Cali Love Willows Cannabis Delivery Procedures 

We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-commerce 
website. We will use Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery 
insurance provider in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must 
return during business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. Furthermore, 
deliveries will not occur between 7pm and 8am to comply with City of Willows Code. All 
deliveries must be delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will 
carry physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting products 

customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the correct person who 
placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked container that will only be 
opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device will accompany our delivery driver 
recording delivery routes for records purposes per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in 
compliance with all DCC regulations 15415 -15421. DCC Delivery Regulations are attached 
for clarity. 

§15415. Delivery Employees. (a) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be performed
by a delivery employee who is directly employed by a licensed retailer. (b) Each delivery 
employee of a licensed retailer shall be at least 21 years of age. (c) All deliveries of cannabis 
goods shall be made in person. A delivery of cannabis goods shall not be made through the 

only during the hours of operation established by section 15403. Delivery employees shall 
return to the licensed premises after making their last delivery of the day if they have any 
unsold cannabis goods to return to the premises. (e) During the process of delivery, the 
licensed retailer’s delivery employee may not engage in any activities except for cannabis 
goods delivery and necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair stops. (f) A delivery employee of a 
licensed retailer shall, during deliveries, carry a copy of the retailer’s current license, a copy 
of the QR Co
subsection (d), the employee’s government-
badge provided by the employer pursuant to section 15043. A delivery employee shall 
provide a 

e of the 



accurate list of the retailer’s delivery employees and shall provide the list to the Department 

eries Facilitated 
by Technology Platforms. (a) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not sell or 
otherwise transfer any cannabis goods to a customer through the use of an unlicensed third 
party, intermediary business, broker, or any other business or entity. Medicinal and Adult Use 

section, a licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness may contract with a service that 
provides a technology platform to facilitate the sale and delivery of cannabis goods, in 

not allow for delivery of cannabis goods by the technology platform service provider. (2) The 
licensed retail
cannabis goods with the technology platform service provider, or otherwise provide for a 
percentage or portion of the cannabis goods sales to the technology platform service 
provider. (3) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not advertise or market 
cannabis goods in conjunction with the technology platform service provider, outside of the 
technology platform, and shall ensure that the technology platform service provider does 
not use the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's license number or legal business 
name on any advertisement or marketing that primarily promotes the services of the 
technology platform. (4) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall ensure the 

for sale on or through the technology platform shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed 
retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business 
Customers placing an order for cannabis goods through the technology platform shall be 
able to easily identify the licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness that each cannabis 
good is being ordered or purchased from. This information shall be available to the customer 

sales invoices and receipts, including any receipts provided to the customer, shall disclose, 
at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business name and 

Code.  

cannabis goods to a physical address in California. (b) A delivery employee shall not leave 
nnabis 

Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 117 (c) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis 



goods to an address located on publicly owned land or any address on land or in a building 

for a tribe or an individual tribal member unless the delivery is authorized by and consistent 
with applicable tribal law. (d) A delivery employee may deliver to any jurisdiction within the 

provisions of this division. (e) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to a 
school providing instruction in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or 

usiness and Professions Code.  

carrying cannabis goods for delivery, shall only travel in an enclosed motor vehicle. Any 
vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall be operated by a delivery employee of 
the licensee. A vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall not have any marking or 
other indications on the exterior of the vehicle that may indicate that the delivery employee 
is carrying cannabis goods for delivery. Only the licensee or an employee of the retailer 
licensee for whom delivery is being performed shall be in the delivery vehicle. (b) While 
carrying cannabis goods for delivery, a licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall ensure the 
cannabis goods are not visible to the public. Cannabis goods shall be stored in a secure, fully 
enclosed trunk that cannot be accessed from inside the vehicle, or in a secured area or 

solid or locking metal partitions, cages, or high-strength shatterproof acrylic can be used to 
create a secure compartment in the fully enclosed vehicle. The secured area may be 
comprised on three sides by any part of the body of the vehicle, provided the parts of the 
vehicle used for the purposes of this section are shatterproof and are not made of glass. (c) 
A licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall not leave cannabis goods in an unattended 

cle alarm 
system. Any cannabis goods left in an unattended vehicle must be stored in a container as 

 for identifying the 
geographic location of the delivery vehicle and recording a history of all locations traveled to 

by the licensee and used for delivery only. The device shall be either permanently or 

to the delivery vehicle and shall remain active and inside of the delivery vehicle at all times 
during delivery. At all times, the licensed retailer shall be able to identify the geographic 
location of all delivery vehicles that are making deliveries for the licensed retailer and 
document the history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaged in 



The history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaging in delivery shall 

shall provide the Department with information regarding any motor vehicle used for the 

 Motor Vehicles registration information. 
(f) Any motor vehicle used by a licensed retailer to deliver cannabis goods is subject to
inspection by the Department. Vehicles used to deliver cannabis goods may be stopped and
inspected by the Department at any 

employee shall not carry cannabis goods in the delivery vehicle with a value in excess of 
$10,000 at any time. (b) For the purposes of this section, the value of cannabis goods shall 
be determined using the current retail price of all cannabis goods carried by, or within the 
delivery vehicle of, the licensed retailer's delivery employee. (c) A delivery employee may 
only carry cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, branded merchandise of any licensee, or 
promotional materials in the delivery vehicle and may only perform deliveries for one 
licensed retailer at a time. A delivery employee must depart and return to the same licensed 
premises before taking possession of any cannabis goods from another licensee to perform 

must have a delivery inventory ledger of all cannabis goods provided to the licensed retailer's 
delivery employee. The contents of the delivery inventory ledger must comply with the 

delivery employee shall maintain the delivery inventory ledger in hard copy or electronically, 
the latter of which may be an electronic copy maintained in the track and trace system. The 

remaining inventory carried by the delivery employee. The delivery inventory ledger must 

entered into the track Medicinal and Adult Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 
he delivery trip 

occurred. (e) The licensed retailer's delivery employee shall maintain a log that includes all 
stops from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee leaves the licensed premises 
to the time that the licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises, 
and the reason for each stop. The log shall be turned in to the licensed retailer when the 
licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises. The licensed retailer 
must maintain the log as a comm



The log may be maintained electronically. (f) Prior to arrival at any delivery location, the 

ectronically or in hard 

delivery was made, and the signature of the cu

employee left the licensed pre
receipts for cannabis goods carried by the delivery employee, in the delivery vehicle, or any 

time the licensed retailer's delivery employee left the licensed premises up to the time of the 

be performed for a 30-minute period, the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not 

breaks shall not count toward the 30-minute period. (i) Upon returning to the licensed 
premises, all undelivered cannabis goods shall be returned to the licensed retailer’s 
inventory and recorded within the track and trace system in accordance with section 

ns Code.  

employees shall not consume cannabis or cannabis products while delivering cannabis 

Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 120  

e number 

customer and a licensed retailer-

(7) A detailed description of all cannabis goods r
include the weight, volume, or any other accurate measure of the amount of all cannabis

cost of the cannabis goods, a



delivery, the date and time the delivery was made, and the handwritten or electronic 
signature of the customer who received the delivery. (b) At the time of the delivery, the 
delivery employee of the retailer shall provide the customer who placed the order with a hard 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an employee number is a distinct number assigned by a
licensed retailer to an employee that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
employee in documents or records using the employee number rather than the employee's
full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the employee associated with each

a customer number is a distinct number assigned by a licensed retailer to a customer that
would allow the licensed retailer to identify the customer in documents or records using the
customer number rather than the customer's full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to

Department. Authority 

Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 121

§15421. Delivery Route. While making deliveries of cannabis goods, a licensed
retailer's delivery employee shall only travel from the retailer's licensed premises to the 

livery 
address back to the retailer's licensed premises. A delivery employee of a licensed retailer 
shall not deviate from the delivery path described in this section, except for necessary rest, 
fuel, or vehicle repair stops, or because road conditions make continued use of the route 

 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
For Retail / Dispensary Cannabis Business License  

Cali Love Willows, LLC. 
157 N. Butte Street /APN: 002-162-006 

City Council Approval Date: August 26, 2025 
 
 

GENERAL 
 

(1) The City of Willows will collect 2% of the gross sale receipts in addition to sales tax and any other 
payment made to the City of Willows. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, Cali Love Willows, 
LLC. will be responsible for paying the voter approved tax in lieu of the 2% revenue sharing.  

 
(2) The entire administrative record for this license (the “Record”) is incorporated herein by 

reference as though fully set forth and is binding on the applicant/licensee. The Record includes, 
without limitation: (i) the Phase One application and all attachments; (ii) the Phase Two 
application and all attachments; (iii) all supplemental or revised submittals; (iv) all responses to 
City requests for additional information; (v) all written and electronic correspondence, including 
emails and text messages, and any verbal statements made by or on behalf of the applicant to 
City staff or officials as reflected in the City’s files, notes, recordings, minutes, or transcripts; and 
(vi) all Planning Commission and City Council agendas, staff reports, findings, resolutions, 
minutes, and conditions. All representations, commitments, plans, specifications, and 
operational measures described by the applicant anywhere in the Record constitute enforceable 
conditions of this approval and material terms of the City’s action. 

 
The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Conditions of Approval and agrees to be bound by 
and fully comply with all Conditions of Approval as approved by the City Council. 

 
Cali Love Willows LLC. 
157 N. Butte St. 
Willows, CA 95988 
Entity #202565417229 

 
 
 
 

 
Melissa Wight, Manager/Member Date 
PO Box 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

 
 
 
 
 

Stephen Sutton, Manager/Member Date 
PO Box 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 



Agenda Item #10a 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 
Date:   August 26, 2025 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From:  Joe Bettencourt, Community Development and Services Director  
Marti Brown, City Manager  

Subject:  Cali Love Willows, LLC. Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License, 157 North Butte 
Street 

 

Recommendation: 

Adopt Resolution XX-2025 (Attachment 1), approving a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for 
Cali Love Willows, LLC. to operate at 157 North Butte Street.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

The City Manager has determined the application is complete, including Planning Commission issuance 
of CUP 25‑01, and the item is being considered by the City Council in accordance with WMC 
9.20.071(3). 

Background:  

The City established its cannabis regulatory program in 2017 through Ordinance 736-2017. The Council 
adopted Resolution 32-2017, which set the maximum number of retail/dispensary cannabis business 
licenses at two, established an initial 1,000-foot separation from churches, schools, licensed 
daycares/preschools, playgrounds, and parks, and directed the Planning Commission to identify 
appropriate zoning for such businesses. In 2018, Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 allowed 
retail/dispensary businesses in certain commercial and combined zones with a conditional use permit.  

On May 28, 2024, the Council adopted Resolution 19-2024 removing setback requirements from 
churches, licensed daycares, playgrounds, and parks while retaining school setbacks; subsequent 
Council direction culminated in a 600-foot school setback and expanded zoning eligibility to include the 
Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial districts. 

To enhance oversight and transparency the Council established an Ad Hoc Committee to work with the 
City Manager and Community Development and Services (CD&S) Director on application review. Cali 
Love Willows, LLC. (Cali Love) submitted their Phase One application on March 5, 2025. The City 
Manager and CD&S Director determined that Cali Love’s Phase One application was complete on 
March 21, 2025, and authorized them to proceed to the Phase Two application. Cali Love submitted all 
required Phase Two materials, which were reviewed by the City Manager, CD&S Director, and the Ad-



Hoc Committee. Their application was deemed complete and they were scheduled for review of their 
Conditional Use Permit on the July 1 Planning Commission meeting. The 300-foot letters for the July 1, 
2025 meeting were not sent out in advance of the 10-day notice requirement. Therefore, the meeting 
was continued to the August 5, 2025 Planning Commission meeting. 

On August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission approved CUP 25-01 by resolution (Attachment 2) and 
approved the Conditions of Approval (Attachment 3).  

Discussion & Analysis:  

According to WMC 9.20.071, Retail/dispensary business license applications, Section (3) Review by City 
Council, (b)The City Council shall, in its sole discretion: 

(i) Require any additional information deemed necessary or appropriate for 
consideration of issuance of the license; or 

(ii) Deny the application and state the grounds therefore; or 

(iii) By resolution, vote to issue the license, subject to any reasonable conditions 
(Attachment 2) imposed by the City Council, upon applicant’s payment of the business 
cannabis license fee established by the City Council. 

According to WMC 9.20.075 Denials, revocations and suspensions, Section (3) Grounds for Denial of 
Application, License Renewal, or Suspension or Revocation of License. The granting of a 
retail/dispensary cannabis business license, or a renewal thereof, may be disapproved, and an existing 
license revoked or suspended if: 

 
(a) The applicant or licensee has knowingly made a false statement in the application or in any 
reports or other documents furnished to the city of Willows. 
 
(b) The owner of the business premises withholds or revokes consent for the sale of cannabis and 
cannabis products on the premises. 
 
(c) The licensee has violated the terms of this code or California law relating to the conduct of 
commercial cannabis activities. 
 
(d) Revocation or suspension of the required state-issued license. 
 
(e) The licensee failed to properly and truthfully report sales of cannabis and cannabis products, 
and/or failed to pay all fees and taxes in full as and when due. 
 
(f) The licensee has engaged in the sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products in a 
location other than the licensed premises. 
 
(g) The licensee has engaged in or permitted the sale or distribution of other controlled 
substances on or from the premises. 



(h) Excessive traffic, neighborhood and/or law enforcement activity at the location of the 
applicant’s or licensee’s business premises. 
 
(i) The licensee’s failure to maintain the premises in a secure manner and/or to protect the safety 
and security of employees and customers. 
 
(j) The granting or renewing of the license would perpetuate or encourage any of the following: 

(i) Engaging in the illegal sale or distribution of cannabis or cannabis products or other 
controlled substances; 
(ii) Providing cannabis or cannabis products to minors; 
(iii) Diversion of cannabis or cannabis products to jurisdictions outside of the state where 
cannabis and cannabis products are unlawful under state or local law; 
(iv) Trafficking of other illegal drugs or facilitation of other illegal activity; 
(v) Violence and the use of firearms in the sale or distribution of cannabis and cannabis 
products; 
(vi) The applicant or licensee or a cannabis business owner has been sanctioned by a 
licensing authority or other city or county for unauthorized commercial cannabis activity; 
(vii) The applicant or licensee violates any provision of the MCRSA, AUMA, this article or 
any other permits issued by the city for the cannabis activity. 

 
(k) The cannabis business owner has been convicted of an offense that is substantially related to 
the qualifications, functions, or duties of the cannabis business for which the application is made, 
which includes but is not limited to: 

(i) A violent felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 667.5(c). 
(ii) A serious felony conviction, as specified in Penal Code Section 1192.7. 
(iii) A felony conviction involving fraud, deceit or embezzlement. 
(iv) A felony conviction for drug trafficking with an enhancement pursuant to Health and 
Safety Code Section 11370.4 or 113798. 
(v) A felony conviction for hiring, employing, or using a minor in transporting, carrying, 
selling, giving away, preparing for sale, or peddling any controlled substance to a minor; 
or selling, offering to sell, furnishing, offering to furnish, administering, or giving any 
controlled substance to a minor. 
 

(l) Except as provided in subsection (3)(k) of this section, an application for a permit shall not be 
denied if the sole ground for denial is based upon a prior conviction of California Health and 
Safety Code Section 11357. An application for a permit also shall not be denied if the state would 
be prohibited from denying a license pursuant to either California Business and Professions Code 
Section 26057(b)(5) or Section 26059. Conviction of any controlled substance felony subsequent to 
permit issuance shall be grounds for revocation of a permit or denial of the renewal of a permit. 
[Ord. 736-17 § 7 (Exh. B), 11-28-17]. 
 



Staff recommend two additional Conditions of Approval (Attachment 4) regarding revenue sharing and 
binding of all records related to this application. The council can add additional conditions or 
modify/remove conditions that were recommended by staff.  

The site lies within the Central Commercial district where retail/dispensary uses are conditionally 
allowed and as evidenced by CUP 25-01, the project meets applicable zoning and development 
standards. The record demonstrates compliance with operating requirements in the WMC, including 
setback requirements, hours of operation, security protocols such as access control and camera 
coverage, cash-handling, alarm procedures, odor, labeling and packaging consistent with State law, 
routine inspections, and accurate sales and inventory accounting. Delivery operations will adhere to 
State and local regulations. 

Staff find this action exempt from CEQA under Guidelines §15301 (Existing Facilities) because licensing 
a retail operation in an existing building does not expand the building envelope and is served by 
existing utilities and public services. 

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

Financial Stability Goal 2: Seek Cost Savings and Revenue Generation Opportunities. The cannabis 
business license and regulatory fees recover program costs while retail sales increase the City’s 
sustainable revenue base and General Fund.  

Fiscal Impact: 

Approval of the license is expected to generate new sales tax revenue. In addition, the applicant will 
remit two percent (2%) of gross receipts to the City, separate from and in addition to sales tax. If a 
cannabis business tax is approved by voters, that voter‑approved tax will apply in lieu of the two 
percent (2%) remittance. There may also be increased foot traffic in the downtown district that 
benefits nearby businesses.  

Attachments: 

 Attachment 1: Cannabis Business License Resolution 
 Attachment 2: Planning Commission Resolution 
 Attachment 3: Planning Commission Conditions of Approval 
 Attachment 4: Proposed City Council Conditions of Approval 



Attachment 1 
 

 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS APPROVING A RETAIL/DISPENSARY 
CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE FOR CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC. FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N. 
BUTTE STREET, ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows regulates cannabis businesses pursuant to Willows Municipal 
Code (WMC) Chapter 9.20, which establishes a phase process for retail/dispensary cannabis business 
license applications with final City Council consideration under WMC 9.20.071; and  

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 32-2017 
establishing, among other things, a maximum of two retail/dispensary cannabis business licenses 
within the City and initial separation standards, thereby setting the framework for subsequent 
licensing actions; and  

WHEREAS, in 2018 the City Council adopted Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 to allow 
cannabis retail/dispensary uses in certain commercial and combined zones with a Conditional Use 
Permit; and in 2024–2025 the City modernized the program by removing certain setbacks and 
expanding eligibility to the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial zones; and  

WHEREAS, the applicant, Cali Love Willows, LLC (“Applicant”), submitted a Phase One 
application that the City Manager determined complete, after which the Applicant submitted all Phase 
Two materials, which was also determined complete by the City Manager, Community Development 
and Services Director and the Cannabis Retail Business Application Ad hoc Committee. 

WHEREAS, on August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission approved CUP 25-01 for the proposed 
retail/dispensary at 157 N. Butte Street with conditions addressing security, odor control, operations, 
delivery compliance, recordkeeping, and other standards, thereby completing the zoning entitlement 
for Phase Two; and the Planning Commission’s resolution approving CUP 25-01 is incorporated into the 
record by this reference; and  

WHEREAS, staff prepared a City Council staff report for the August 26, 2025 meeting describing 
the project, documenting completion of Phases One and Two, and recommending approval of a 
business license pursuant to WMC 9.20.071(3); that staff report is incorporated into the record by this 
reference; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that approval of the license is categorically exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Guidelines section 15301 (Existing Facilities) 
because it consists of operating a commercial retail use within an existing building, does not expand 
the building envelope, and is served by existing utilities and public services.  

 



 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Willows as follows: 

Section 1. Approval. The City Council approves a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for Cali 
Love Willows, LLC to operate a retail/dispensary with delivery services at 157 N. Butte Street (APN 002-
162-006), consistent with WMC Chapter 9.20 and the Planning Commission’s approval of CUP 25-01. 

Section 2. Conditions of Approval. The licensee shall comply with all Conditions of Approval as 
approved by the City Council at its August 26, 2025 meeting, together with all conditions contained in 
CUP 25-01 and all applicable provisions of WMC Chapter 9.20.  

Section 3. CEQA. The City Council finds this action exempt under CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption as appropriate. 

Section 4. Term. The initial license term shall be one year from the date of issuance of the Certificate 
of Authorization by the City Manager. 

Section 5. Fiscal. The City of Willows will collect two percent (2%) of gross receipts in addition to sales 
tax. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, Cali Love Willows, LLC will pay the voter‑approved tax in 
lieu of the two percent (2%) remittance. 

Section 6. Enforcement. Failure to comply with any applicable condition of this approval, CUP 25-01, 
WMC Chapter 9.20, or State law shall be grounds for corrective action, suspension, or revocation 
pursuant to WMC 9.20.075, in addition to any other remedies available at law. 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption on August 26, 
2025. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Willows this 26th day of August 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 

APPROVED:       ATTESTED: 

 

                                                                    

Evan Hutson, Mayor      Karleen Price, City Clerk 



Attachment 1 
 

 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS APPROVING A RETAIL/DISPENSARY 
CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE FOR CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC. FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N. 
BUTTE STREET, ASSESSOR’S PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows regulates cannabis businesses pursuant to Willows Municipal 
Code (WMC) Chapter 9.20, which establishes a phase process for retail/dispensary cannabis business 
license applications with final City Council consideration under WMC 9.20.071; and  

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 32-2017 
establishing, among other things, a maximum of two retail/dispensary cannabis business licenses 
within the City and initial separation standards, thereby setting the framework for subsequent 
licensing actions; and  

WHEREAS, in 2018 the City Council adopted Ordinances 738-2018 and 739-2018 to allow 
cannabis retail/dispensary uses in certain commercial and combined zones with a Conditional Use 
Permit; and in 2024–2025 the City modernized the program by removing certain setbacks and 
expanding eligibility to the Central Commercial, General Commercial, and Light Industrial zones; and  

WHEREAS, the applicant, Cali Love Willows, LLC (“Applicant”), submitted a Phase One 
application that the City Manager determined complete, after which the Applicant submitted all Phase 
Two materials, which was also determined complete by the City Manager, Community Development 
and Services Director and the Cannabis Retail Business Application Ad hoc Committee. 

WHEREAS, on August 5, 2025, the Planning Commission approved CUP 25-01 for the proposed 
retail/dispensary at 157 N. Butte Street with conditions addressing security, odor control, operations, 
delivery compliance, recordkeeping, and other standards, thereby completing the zoning entitlement 
for Phase Two; and the Planning Commission’s resolution approving CUP 25-01 is incorporated into the 
record by this reference; and  

WHEREAS, staff prepared a City Council staff report for the August 26, 2025 meeting describing 
the project, documenting completion of Phases One and Two, and recommending approval of a 
business license pursuant to WMC 9.20.071(3); that staff report is incorporated into the record by this 
reference; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that approval of the license is categorically exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Guidelines section 15301 (Existing Facilities) 
because it consists of operating a commercial retail use within an existing building, does not expand 
the building envelope, and is served by existing utilities and public services.  

 



 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Willows as follows: 

Section 1. Approval. The City Council approves a Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business License for Cali 
Love Willows, LLC to operate a retail/dispensary with delivery services at 157 N. Butte Street (APN 002-
162-006), consistent with WMC Chapter 9.20 and the Planning Commission’s approval of CUP 25-01. 

Section 2. Conditions of Approval. The licensee shall comply with all Conditions of Approval as 
approved by the City Council at its August 26, 2025 meeting, together with all conditions contained in 
CUP 25-01 and all applicable provisions of WMC Chapter 9.20.  

Section 3. CEQA. The City Council finds this action exempt under CEQA Guidelines §15301 (Existing 
Facilities) and directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption as appropriate. 

Section 4. Term. The initial license term shall be one year from the date of issuance of the Certificate 
of Authorization by the City Manager. 

Section 5. Fiscal. The City of Willows will collect two percent (2%) of gross receipts in addition to sales 
tax. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, Cali Love Willows, LLC will pay the voter‑approved tax in 
lieu of the two percent (2%) remittance. 

Section 6. Enforcement. Failure to comply with any applicable condition of this approval, CUP 25-01, 
WMC Chapter 9.20, or State law shall be grounds for corrective action, suspension, or revocation 
pursuant to WMC 9.20.075, in addition to any other remedies available at law. 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption on August 26, 
2025. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Willows this 26th day of August 2025, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 

APPROVED:       ATTESTED: 

 

                                                                    

Evan Hutson, Mayor      Karleen Price, City Clerk 



l City of Willows 

Resolution 12-2025 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS GRANTING CONDITIONAL 

USE PERMIT APPROVAL OF A NEW RETAIL/ DISPENSARY CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSE (CUP 25-01) 

TO CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 157 N BUTTE STREET, ASSESSORS 

PARCEL NUMBER 002-162-006 WITHIN THE CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

WHEREAS, the applicant, CALI LOVE WILLOWS, LLC, has submitted an application for Conditional 

Use Permit approval to allow the operation of a new retail/ dispensary cannabis business license; and 

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.55.030 requires approval of a Conditional 

Use Permit for the operation of a cannabis retail/ dispensary business; and 

WHEREAS, City of Willows Municipal Code Chapter 9.20.070 - 9.20.080 establishes processes 

and general conditions for retail/ dispensary cannabis business licenses; and 

WHEREAS, notice of the Planning Commission meeting held on August 5, 2025, was published in 

a newspaper of general circulation in the City in accordance with law, and mailing to property owners 

within 300 feet were sent; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission did, on August 5, 2025 hold a public hearing to consider all 

public oral and written comments, letters and documents, staff reports, and all other documents and 

evidence which are a part of the Record; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission does find that the proposed project qualifies as a 

Categorical Exemption under Section 15301 {Class 1) pursuant to the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Willows Municipal Code Chapter 18.135.050, the following findings are 

made for the approval of a use permit: 

1) That the use is consistent with the purposes of the district in which the site is located.

Willows Municipal Code (WMC} Chapter 18.55.030(20) allows for cannabis retail I

dispensary business within the Central Commercial zone with approval of a conditional

use permit.

2) That the proposed location of the use and the conditions under which it may be operated

or maintained will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare or materially

injurious to properties or improvements in the vicinity.

The location of the cannabis retail I dispensary business would be in an existing

commercial building. Minor tenant improvements would be required. Conditions of

Approval outlined in WMC Chapter 9.20.080 including hours of operation, odor control

and security measures would be included in the project to ensure the business is operated

Attachment 4



and maintained in a manner that is not detrimental to the public health, safety or welfare 

of those in the vicinity. 

3) That the proposed use is in conformance with the General Plan. 

Commercial businesses are allowed within the land use designation of Central 

Commercial. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of Willows does 

hereby find that the Conditional Use Permit to allow the operation of a retail / dispensary cannabis 

business license is consistent with the City of Willows Municipal Code and General Plan, and findings 

incorporated, and hereby approves Conditional Use Permit #CUP 25-01, subject to the attached 

conditions of approval. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Planning Commission of the City of Willows this 5th day of August 2025, 

by the following vote: 

AYES: Vice Chair Corum, Commissioners Ocampo and Nygard 

NOES: Chair Brott 

ABSENT: Commissioner Valencia 

ABSTAIN: None 

APPROVED: 

/4?hMMr k-,~ 
Sherry Brott, Chair 

ATTESTED: 



Attachment 3



 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8/20/25

8/20/25







































































































































City of Willows 
Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Department 
201 N. Lassen St. 
Willows, CA 95988 

May 4, 2025 

Cali Love Willows 
Attn: Melissa Wight and Stephen Sutton 
PO BOX 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

Subject: Additional Information Required for Phase 2 of the Cannabis Business License 
Application  

Dear Ms. Wight and Mr. Sutton, 

After reviewing your Phase 2 Cannabis Business License Application for 157 N. Butte St., we 
require additional information to proceed with the evaluation. Please provide the following 
documents and details no later than Wednesday May 14, 2025, at 2:00 p.m. 

1. Item 1: Security Plan –
a) The floor plan shows an ID check desk; however, it appears that this desk is not

in a separate room from where the cannabis products are sold. Is that correct? If
so, does this mean that visual observation by the security guard is the sole
method to prevent unauthorized access to the sales area?

2. Item 2: Floor Plan –

a) Identify the delivery and waste pickup locations, it is not shown on the
submitted site plan or floor plan.

b) The floor plan is very difficult to read, can an electronic version be provided or a
clearer hard copy?

c) Is the restroom employee only or open to the public?
d) Please describe the contents and offerings of the 'DRINKS' section."

3. Item 5: Neighborhood Context Map-  

a) Please update the map to illustrate a 600-foot setback radius and indicate 
whether any schools are located within this area.  



4. Item 6: Lighting Plan –

a) Will security lighting be installed on the building's exterior, particularly in areas
designated for deliveries?

5. Item 8: Insurance-  

a) An actual Certificate of Insurance needs to be provided, not just a quote. 

6. Item 11: Financial Viability- 

a) The 3-year proforma was not included, please provide and include information 
on employees (part time/full time, will they receive benefits, schedule for onsite 
manager(s)).

b) The bank verification letter needs to show funds available for business startup,
please provide a verified fund amount.

Timely submission of clear and complete documents by the specified deadline is essential to 
continue processing your application. We appreciate your cooperation and look forward to 
receiving the requested information.

Respectfully,

Joe Bettencourt
Community Development and Services Director
City of Willows

Respectfully,

J B tt t





retractable crowd
control stanchion

POTTED TREE



�



Neighborhood Context Map (Question #3)





Lighting Plan (Question #4)





Insurance Certificate (Question #8)





Additional Phase 2 Follow-Up Email





Cali Love Willows City of Willows Phase 2 Cannabis License 
Application Additional Follow Up Questions 

1. Provided

2. We will be open approximately 4 to 6 months after receiving approval from the City
of Willows. It takes approximately 3-6 months to obtain a state license from the
DCC if done correctly. We typically run our licensing concurrently, applying for the
city/county and state license at the same time. Since this is a competitive bid, we

-6
month timeline for opening day.

3. While another similar business may be located across the street, we do not
consider them direct competition. Our business has exclusive agreements with
multiple award-winning vendors, including premium cultivators and Melissa's
world-class cannabis from the Emerald Triangle, ensuring a unique product
selection that is unavailable elsewhere in the area.

In addition to our curated cannabis offerings, our location includes a distinctive art
gallery environment that enhances the customer experience and further
differentiates us in the market. The business across the street does not offer this
type of atmosphere or product mix.

As a result, their presence does not impact our financial projections, proforma, or
strategic positioning. Our partnerships, curated selection, and elevated retail
experience position us uniquely in the local market.

4. We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-
commerce website. Yes, 
Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery insurance provider
in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must return during
business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. All deliveries must be
delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will carry
physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting



to ensure customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the 
correct person who placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked 
container that will only be opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device 
will accompany our delivery driver recording delivery routes for records purposes 
per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in compliance with all DCC regulations 
15415 -15421. 



Delivery Information



Cali Love Willows Cannabis Delivery Procedures 

We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-commerce 
website. We will use Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery 
insurance provider in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must 
return during business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. Furthermore, 
deliveries will not occur between 7pm and 8am to comply with City of Willows Code. All 
deliveries must be delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will 
carry physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting products 

customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the correct person who 
placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked container that will only be 
opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device will accompany our delivery driver 
recording delivery routes for records purposes per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in 
compliance with all DCC regulations 15415 -15421. DCC Delivery Regulations are attached 
for clarity. 

§15415. Delivery Employees. (a) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be performed
by a delivery employee who is directly employed by a licensed retailer. (b) Each delivery 
employee of a licensed retailer shall be at least 21 years of age. (c) All deliveries of cannabis 
goods shall be made in person. A delivery of cannabis goods shall not be made through the 

only during the hours of operation established by section 15403. Delivery employees shall 
return to the licensed premises after making their last delivery of the day if they have any 
unsold cannabis goods to return to the premises. (e) During the process of delivery, the 
licensed retailer’s delivery employee may not engage in any activities except for cannabis 
goods delivery and necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair stops. (f) A delivery employee of a 
licensed retailer shall, during deliveries, carry a copy of the retailer’s current license, a copy 
of the QR Co
subsection (d), the employee’s government-
badge provided by the employer pursuant to section 15043. A delivery employee shall 
provide a 

e of the 



accurate list of the retailer’s delivery employees and shall provide the list to the Department 

eries Facilitated 
by Technology Platforms. (a) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not sell or 
otherwise transfer any cannabis goods to a customer through the use of an unlicensed third 
party, intermediary business, broker, or any other business or entity. Medicinal and Adult Use 

section, a licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness may contract with a service that 
provides a technology platform to facilitate the sale and delivery of cannabis goods, in 

not allow for delivery of cannabis goods by the technology platform service provider. (2) The 
licensed retail
cannabis goods with the technology platform service provider, or otherwise provide for a 
percentage or portion of the cannabis goods sales to the technology platform service 
provider. (3) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not advertise or market 
cannabis goods in conjunction with the technology platform service provider, outside of the 
technology platform, and shall ensure that the technology platform service provider does 
not use the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's license number or legal business 
name on any advertisement or marketing that primarily promotes the services of the 
technology platform. (4) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall ensure the 

for sale on or through the technology platform shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed 
retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business 
Customers placing an order for cannabis goods through the technology platform shall be 
able to easily identify the licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness that each cannabis 
good is being ordered or purchased from. This information shall be available to the customer 

sales invoices and receipts, including any receipts provided to the customer, shall disclose, 
at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business name and 

Code.  

cannabis goods to a physical address in California. (b) A delivery employee shall not leave 
nnabis 

Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 117 (c) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis 



goods to an address located on publicly owned land or any address on land or in a building 

for a tribe or an individual tribal member unless the delivery is authorized by and consistent 
with applicable tribal law. (d) A delivery employee may deliver to any jurisdiction within the 

provisions of this division. (e) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to a 
school providing instruction in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or 

usiness and Professions Code.  

carrying cannabis goods for delivery, shall only travel in an enclosed motor vehicle. Any 
vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall be operated by a delivery employee of 
the licensee. A vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall not have any marking or 
other indications on the exterior of the vehicle that may indicate that the delivery employee 
is carrying cannabis goods for delivery. Only the licensee or an employee of the retailer 
licensee for whom delivery is being performed shall be in the delivery vehicle. (b) While 
carrying cannabis goods for delivery, a licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall ensure the 
cannabis goods are not visible to the public. Cannabis goods shall be stored in a secure, fully 
enclosed trunk that cannot be accessed from inside the vehicle, or in a secured area or 

solid or locking metal partitions, cages, or high-strength shatterproof acrylic can be used to 
create a secure compartment in the fully enclosed vehicle. The secured area may be 
comprised on three sides by any part of the body of the vehicle, provided the parts of the 
vehicle used for the purposes of this section are shatterproof and are not made of glass. (c) 
A licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall not leave cannabis goods in an unattended 

cle alarm 
system. Any cannabis goods left in an unattended vehicle must be stored in a container as 

 for identifying the 
geographic location of the delivery vehicle and recording a history of all locations traveled to 

by the licensee and used for delivery only. The device shall be either permanently or 

to the delivery vehicle and shall remain active and inside of the delivery vehicle at all times 
during delivery. At all times, the licensed retailer shall be able to identify the geographic 
location of all delivery vehicles that are making deliveries for the licensed retailer and 
document the history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaged in 



The history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaging in delivery shall 

shall provide the Department with information regarding any motor vehicle used for the 

 Motor Vehicles registration information. 
(f) Any motor vehicle used by a licensed retailer to deliver cannabis goods is subject to
inspection by the Department. Vehicles used to deliver cannabis goods may be stopped and
inspected by the Department at any 

employee shall not carry cannabis goods in the delivery vehicle with a value in excess of 
$10,000 at any time. (b) For the purposes of this section, the value of cannabis goods shall 
be determined using the current retail price of all cannabis goods carried by, or within the 
delivery vehicle of, the licensed retailer's delivery employee. (c) A delivery employee may 
only carry cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, branded merchandise of any licensee, or 
promotional materials in the delivery vehicle and may only perform deliveries for one 
licensed retailer at a time. A delivery employee must depart and return to the same licensed 
premises before taking possession of any cannabis goods from another licensee to perform 

must have a delivery inventory ledger of all cannabis goods provided to the licensed retailer's 
delivery employee. The contents of the delivery inventory ledger must comply with the 

delivery employee shall maintain the delivery inventory ledger in hard copy or electronically, 
the latter of which may be an electronic copy maintained in the track and trace system. The 

remaining inventory carried by the delivery employee. The delivery inventory ledger must 

entered into the track Medicinal and Adult Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 
he delivery trip 

occurred. (e) The licensed retailer's delivery employee shall maintain a log that includes all 
stops from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee leaves the licensed premises 
to the time that the licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises, 
and the reason for each stop. The log shall be turned in to the licensed retailer when the 
licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises. The licensed retailer 
must maintain the log as a comm



The log may be maintained electronically. (f) Prior to arrival at any delivery location, the 

ectronically or in hard 

delivery was made, and the signature of the cu

employee left the licensed pre
receipts for cannabis goods carried by the delivery employee, in the delivery vehicle, or any 

time the licensed retailer's delivery employee left the licensed premises up to the time of the 

be performed for a 30-minute period, the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not 

breaks shall not count toward the 30-minute period. (i) Upon returning to the licensed 
premises, all undelivered cannabis goods shall be returned to the licensed retailer’s 
inventory and recorded within the track and trace system in accordance with section 

ns Code.  

employees shall not consume cannabis or cannabis products while delivering cannabis 

Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 120  

e number 

customer and a licensed retailer-

(7) A detailed description of all cannabis goods r
include the weight, volume, or any other accurate measure of the amount of all cannabis

cost of the cannabis goods, a



delivery, the date and time the delivery was made, and the handwritten or electronic 
signature of the customer who received the delivery. (b) At the time of the delivery, the 
delivery employee of the retailer shall provide the customer who placed the order with a hard 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an employee number is a distinct number assigned by a
licensed retailer to an employee that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
employee in documents or records using the employee number rather than the employee's
full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the employee associated with each

a customer number is a distinct number assigned by a licensed retailer to a customer that
would allow the licensed retailer to identify the customer in documents or records using the
customer number rather than the customer's full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to

Department. Authority 

Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 121

§15421. Delivery Route. While making deliveries of cannabis goods, a licensed
retailer's delivery employee shall only travel from the retailer's licensed premises to the 

livery 
address back to the retailer's licensed premises. A delivery employee of a licensed retailer 
shall not deviate from the delivery path described in this section, except for necessary rest, 
fuel, or vehicle repair stops, or because road conditions make continued use of the route 

 



201 North Lassen • Willows, California 95988 • (530) 934-7041 • FAX (530) 934-7402 

City of Willows 
Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
201 N. Lassen St. 
Willows, CA 95988 

March 21, 2025 

Cali Love Willows 
Attn: Melissa Wight and Stephen Sutton 
PO BOX 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

Subject: Approval of Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application – Eligibility for Phase 2 

Dear Ms. Wight and Mr. Sutton, 

We are pleased to inform you that your Phase 1 Cannabis Business License Application for 157 
N. Butte St. has been approved. As a result, you are now eligible to submit a Phase 2 application
for further review and consideration.

As part of the Phase 2 application process, please ensure that you provide all required items.  
We have provided a sample table of contents as Attachment 1 to this letter. Please number all 
pages and reference them in the table of contents. Timely submission of these materials is 
essential to ensure the continued processing of your application. Please ensure all documents 
are clear, complete, and submitted within the specified timeframe. 

Should you require any clarification, please do not hesitate to reach out to 
planning@cityofwillows.org. We appreciate your cooperation and look forward to receiving 
your Phase 2 application. 

Joe Bettencourt 
Community Development and Services Director 
City of Willows 



Cannabis Business License Phase 2 Application

Table of Contents

1. Security Plan………………………………………………………………………………………Page 1-11

2. Floor Plan…………………………………………………………………………………………. Page 12-16

3. Site Plan ……………………………………………………………………………………………Page 17

4. Accessibility Plan………………………………………………………………………………..Page 18-19

5. Neighborhood Context Map……………………………………………………………….…Page 20

6. Lighting Plan………………………………………………………………………………….……Page 21-24

7. Zoning Code Compliance……………………………………………………………....…….Page 25

8. Insurance………………………………………………………………………………….….……Page 26

9. Fiscal………………………………………………………………………………………………...Page 27-29

10. Experience…………………………………………………………………………………….… Page 30-32

11. Financial Viability………………………………………………………………………….……Page 33

12. City Authorization………………………………………………………………………….……Page 34

13. Reporting and Audit……………………………………………………………………….……Page 35-42

………………………………………………………………….……Page 43

Attachment 1



Cali Love Willows Cannabis Delivery Procedures 

We will allow online orders for in person pickup and delivery through our e-commerce 
website. We will use Progressive auto insurance as they are the only cannabis delivery 
insurance provider in the state. Deliveries will occur during business hours only and must 
return during business hours and before closing per DCC regulations. Furthermore, 
deliveries will not occur between 7pm and 8am to comply with City of Willows Code. All 
deliveries must be delivered to a physical address per DCC regulations. Delivery drivers will 
carry physical receipts for each individual order and Metrc manifests documenting products 

customer is over the age of 21 and products are being delivered to the correct person who 
placed said order. All products will be transported in a locked container that will only be 
opened when deliveries are made. A gps tracking device will accompany our delivery driver 
recording delivery routes for records purposes per DCC regulations. All deliveries will be in 
compliance with all DCC regulations 15415 -15421. DCC Delivery Regulations are attached 
for clarity. 

§15415. Delivery Employees. (a) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be performed
by a delivery employee who is directly employed by a licensed retailer. (b) Each delivery 
employee of a licensed retailer shall be at least 21 years of age. (c) All deliveries of cannabis 
goods shall be made in person. A delivery of cannabis goods shall not be made through the 

only during the hours of operation established by section 15403. Delivery employees shall 
return to the licensed premises after making their last delivery of the day if they have any 
unsold cannabis goods to return to the premises. (e) During the process of delivery, the 
licensed retailer’s delivery employee may not engage in any activities except for cannabis 
goods delivery and necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair stops. (f) A delivery employee of a 
licensed retailer shall, during deliveries, carry a copy of the retailer’s current license, a copy 
of the QR Co
subsection (d), the employee’s government-
badge provided by the employer pursuant to section 15043. A delivery employee shall 
provide a 

e of the 



accurate list of the retailer’s delivery employees and shall provide the list to the Department 

eries Facilitated 
by Technology Platforms. (a) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not sell or 
otherwise transfer any cannabis goods to a customer through the use of an unlicensed third 
party, intermediary business, broker, or any other business or entity. Medicinal and Adult Use 

section, a licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness may contract with a service that 
provides a technology platform to facilitate the sale and delivery of cannabis goods, in 

not allow for delivery of cannabis goods by the technology platform service provider. (2) The 
licensed retail
cannabis goods with the technology platform service provider, or otherwise provide for a 
percentage or portion of the cannabis goods sales to the technology platform service 
provider. (3) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not advertise or market 
cannabis goods in conjunction with the technology platform service provider, outside of the 
technology platform, and shall ensure that the technology platform service provider does 
not use the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's license number or legal business 
name on any advertisement or marketing that primarily promotes the services of the 
technology platform. (4) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall ensure the 

for sale on or through the technology platform shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed 
retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business 
Customers placing an order for cannabis goods through the technology platform shall be 
able to easily identify the licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness that each cannabis 
good is being ordered or purchased from. This information shall be available to the customer 

sales invoices and receipts, including any receipts provided to the customer, shall disclose, 
at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's legal business name and 

Code.  

cannabis goods to a physical address in California. (b) A delivery employee shall not leave 
nnabis 

Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 117 (c) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis 



goods to an address located on publicly owned land or any address on land or in a building 

for a tribe or an individual tribal member unless the delivery is authorized by and consistent 
with applicable tribal law. (d) A delivery employee may deliver to any jurisdiction within the 

provisions of this division. (e) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to a 
school providing instruction in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or 

usiness and Professions Code.  

carrying cannabis goods for delivery, shall only travel in an enclosed motor vehicle. Any 
vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall be operated by a delivery employee of 
the licensee. A vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis goods shall not have any marking or 
other indications on the exterior of the vehicle that may indicate that the delivery employee 
is carrying cannabis goods for delivery. Only the licensee or an employee of the retailer 
licensee for whom delivery is being performed shall be in the delivery vehicle. (b) While 
carrying cannabis goods for delivery, a licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall ensure the 
cannabis goods are not visible to the public. Cannabis goods shall be stored in a secure, fully 
enclosed trunk that cannot be accessed from inside the vehicle, or in a secured area or 

solid or locking metal partitions, cages, or high-strength shatterproof acrylic can be used to 
create a secure compartment in the fully enclosed vehicle. The secured area may be 
comprised on three sides by any part of the body of the vehicle, provided the parts of the 
vehicle used for the purposes of this section are shatterproof and are not made of glass. (c) 
A licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall not leave cannabis goods in an unattended 

cle alarm 
system. Any cannabis goods left in an unattended vehicle must be stored in a container as 

 for identifying the 
geographic location of the delivery vehicle and recording a history of all locations traveled to 

by the licensee and used for delivery only. The device shall be either permanently or 

to the delivery vehicle and shall remain active and inside of the delivery vehicle at all times 
during delivery. At all times, the licensed retailer shall be able to identify the geographic 
location of all delivery vehicles that are making deliveries for the licensed retailer and 
document the history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaged in 



The history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaging in delivery shall 

shall provide the Department with information regarding any motor vehicle used for the 

 Motor Vehicles registration information. 
(f) Any motor vehicle used by a licensed retailer to deliver cannabis goods is subject to
inspection by the Department. Vehicles used to deliver cannabis goods may be stopped and
inspected by the Department at any 

employee shall not carry cannabis goods in the delivery vehicle with a value in excess of 
$10,000 at any time. (b) For the purposes of this section, the value of cannabis goods shall 
be determined using the current retail price of all cannabis goods carried by, or within the 
delivery vehicle of, the licensed retailer's delivery employee. (c) A delivery employee may 
only carry cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, branded merchandise of any licensee, or 
promotional materials in the delivery vehicle and may only perform deliveries for one 
licensed retailer at a time. A delivery employee must depart and return to the same licensed 
premises before taking possession of any cannabis goods from another licensee to perform 

must have a delivery inventory ledger of all cannabis goods provided to the licensed retailer's 
delivery employee. The contents of the delivery inventory ledger must comply with the 

delivery employee shall maintain the delivery inventory ledger in hard copy or electronically, 
the latter of which may be an electronic copy maintained in the track and trace system. The 

remaining inventory carried by the delivery employee. The delivery inventory ledger must 

entered into the track Medicinal and Adult Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 
he delivery trip 

occurred. (e) The licensed retailer's delivery employee shall maintain a log that includes all 
stops from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee leaves the licensed premises 
to the time that the licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises, 
and the reason for each stop. The log shall be turned in to the licensed retailer when the 
licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises. The licensed retailer 
must maintain the log as a comm



The log may be maintained electronically. (f) Prior to arrival at any delivery location, the 

ectronically or in hard 

delivery was made, and the signature of the cu

employee left the licensed pre
receipts for cannabis goods carried by the delivery employee, in the delivery vehicle, or any 

time the licensed retailer's delivery employee left the licensed premises up to the time of the 

be performed for a 30-minute period, the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not 

breaks shall not count toward the 30-minute period. (i) Upon returning to the licensed 
premises, all undelivered cannabis goods shall be returned to the licensed retailer’s 
inventory and recorded within the track and trace system in accordance with section 

ns Code.  

employees shall not consume cannabis or cannabis products while delivering cannabis 

Use Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 120  

e number 

customer and a licensed retailer-

(7) A detailed description of all cannabis goods r
include the weight, volume, or any other accurate measure of the amount of all cannabis

cost of the cannabis goods, a



delivery, the date and time the delivery was made, and the handwritten or electronic 
signature of the customer who received the delivery. (b) At the time of the delivery, the 
delivery employee of the retailer shall provide the customer who placed the order with a hard 

(c) For the purposes of this section, an employee number is a distinct number assigned by a
licensed retailer to an employee that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
employee in documents or records using the employee number rather than the employee's
full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the employee associated with each

a customer number is a distinct number assigned by a licensed retailer to a customer that
would allow the licensed retailer to identify the customer in documents or records using the
customer number rather than the customer's full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to

Department. Authority 

Cannabis Regulations Revised April 1, 2025 121

§15421. Delivery Route. While making deliveries of cannabis goods, a licensed
retailer's delivery employee shall only travel from the retailer's licensed premises to the 

livery 
address back to the retailer's licensed premises. A delivery employee of a licensed retailer 
shall not deviate from the delivery path described in this section, except for necessary rest, 
fuel, or vehicle repair stops, or because road conditions make continued use of the route 

 



Attachment 2 

Conditions of Approval 
For Retail / Dispensary Cannabis Business License 

Cali Love Willows, LLC. 
157 N. Butte Street /APN: 002-162-006 

City Council Approval Date: August 26, 2025 

GENERAL 

(1) The City of Willows will collect 2% of the gross sale receipts in addition to sales tax and any other
payment made to the City of Willows. If a cannabis tax is approved by voters, Cali Love Willows,
LLC. will be responsible for paying the voter approved tax in lieu of the 2% revenue sharing.

(2) The entire administrative record for this license (the “Record”) is incorporated herein by
reference as though fully set forth and is binding on the applicant/licensee. The Record includes,
without limitation: (i) the Phase One application and all attachments; (ii) the Phase Two
application and all attachments; (iii) all supplemental or revised submittals; (iv) all responses to
City requests for additional information; (v) all written and electronic correspondence, including
emails and text messages, and any verbal statements made by or on behalf of the applicant to
City staff or officials as reflected in the City’s files, notes, recordings, minutes, or transcripts; and
(vi) all Planning Commission and City Council agendas, staff reports, findings, resolutions,
minutes, and conditions. All representations, commitments, plans, specifications, and
operational measures described by the applicant anywhere in the Record constitute enforceable
conditions of this approval and material terms of the City’s action.

The undersigned acknowledges receipt of the Conditions of Approval and agrees to be bound by 
and fully comply with all Conditions of Approval as approved by the City Council. 

Cali Love Willows LLC. 
157 N. Butte St. 
Willows, CA 95988 
Entity #202565417229 

Melissa Wight, Manager/Member Date 
PO Box 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 

Stephen Sutton, Manager/Member Date 
PO Box 531 
Douglas City, CA 96024 



Agenda Item #10c 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: August 26, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject: Joint City Council & Library Board of Trustees Meeting 

Recommendation: 

Approve scheduling and convening a Joint Meeting of the City Council and Library Board of Trustees to 
potentially discuss the Memorandum of Understanding between the Library Board and the City of 
Willows, current Library Board Policies, receive an update from the City Librarian on proposed future 
library programs, and any other mutually agreed upon agenda items as requested by both governing 
bodies.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

With the recent departure of the Library Director after 15 years of contracting with the City of Willows, 
a joint meeting of the City Council and Library Board of Trustees presents an opportunity to ensure 
alignment of Council and Trustee priorities and goals for the Willows Public Library.  

Background: 

In 2005, the City of Willows contracted with the City of Orland for Library Director Services. In the 
spring of 2025, the Orland City Council and contract Library Director started discussing termination of 
its contract with the City of Willows. On June 3, 2025, the Orland City Council approved termination of 
its contract with the City of Willows and issued a 30-day notice of termination. The Library Director’s 
last day with the City of Willows was June 30, 2025.  

Discussion & Analysis: 

With the departure of the Library Director in late June, Mayor Hutson initiated discussions to engage 
the Library Board of Trustees in a Joint City Council-Library Board meeting to agendize and discuss 
priorities and goals for the library, revisiting the Memorandum of Understanding between the City and 
the Board, and discuss any other mutually agreed upon agenda items. Over time, the proposed agenda 
for this meeting has evolved to also include a discussion about the Library Board’s policies and an 
update from the City Librarian on her ideas for future library programs and structure. Tonight’s agenda 
item is an opportunity for the Council to publicly discuss and consider formally initiating a joint 
meeting with the Library Board of Trustees.  



Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

The proposed action is consistent with Council Priority, Quality of Life, Goal #1: Expand Youth and 
Adult Activities.  

Fiscal Impact: 

There is no fiscal impact by approving the proposed action. 



Agenda Item #10d 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: August 26, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject: General Fund & Apparatus Replacement Reserve Fund 

Recommendation: 

Approve changes and updates to the General Fund Reserve policy and add the previously Council 
approved Apparatus Replacement Reserve Fund. 

Rationale for Recommendation: 

As part of the purview of the Council established Finance and Measure I Oversight Committee 
(FMIOC), financial policies are reviewed annually by the Committee and, if necessary, changes to the 
policies are recommended to the full Council.  

Background: 

As identified in the Council approved bylaws of the Finance & Measure I Oversight Committee, the 
Committee meets once per quarter with different review protocols and subject matter at each 
quarterly meeting.  

Per the bylaws, the Finance & Measure I Oversight Committee meeting reviewed several existing 
financial policies that were established in 2020 and 2021, including the General Fund Reserve Policy 
(Attachment 1), at its July 15, 2025 meeting.  

Discussion & Analysis: 

Upon reviewing the General Fund Reserve policy and listening to staff’s recommendation at the July 
15, 2025 FMIOC meeting, the Committee approved, referring the following recommendations to the 
full Council (as reflected in Attachment 2):  

 Consolidate the Catastrophic Reserve and Budget Stabilization Reserve into one Reserve and
renaming it the General Fund Reserve (with the same goals and objectives as the prior two
Reserves).

 Change the Capital and Special Projects Reserve to Apparatus Replacement Reserve (which was
adopted by the Council during the 2025 budget process).



 Add language to address rebuilding and maintaining a 25% General Fund Reserve over the next
one to five years.

In larger cities, several different types and categories of Reserve Funds are common; however, in 
smaller cities like Willows with less surplus funds and cashflow, typically there is only a General Fund 
Reserve and maybe one other Reserve. As a result, staff recommended to the Finance Committee to 
include one General Fund Reserve policy for emergencies, catastrophic events and budget stabilization, 
as well as the already Council approved Apparatus Replacement Reserve to save for future Fire 
Department and Public Works apparatus replacement as needed.  

In addition, it was also recommended that the City adopt an explicit goal to rebuild its General Fund 
Reserve to 25% of its General Fund operating budget over the next one to five years.  

Attachment 3 shows the redline edits from the original General Fund Reserve policy to the newly 
proposed one.  

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

The proposed action is consistent with the Council Priority, Financial Stability, Goal #1: Fund the 
General Fund Reserve and Apparatus Replacement Plan.  

Fiscal Impact: 

There is no fiscal impact by adopting FMIOC’s policy recommendations. 

Attachments: 

 Attachment 1: 2021 General Fund Reserve Policy
 Attachment 2: Proposed General Fund Reserve Policy
 Attachment 3: 2021 General Fund Reserve Policy with Proposed Changes (Redline Version)



City of Willows 

Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

Subject: General Fund Reserve Policy Number: -
---

Department(s) Affected: Effective Date: April 13, 2021 

FINANCE 
Supersedes: 2-1 Fund - Working 

Reserve (Adopted 6-12-1979) 

File Reference(s): Authority: 

Resolution: 

Approved: CITY COUNCIL 04/13/2021 

1. Introduction:

This General Fund Reserve Policy (the "Reserve Policy") of the CITY OF WILLOWS (the
"City") was approved by the City Council of the City (the "Council") on April 13, 2021. The
General Fund Reserve Policy may be amended by Council as it deems appropriate from time to
time in the prudent management of the finances of the City.

2. Background:

General Fund reserves are classified into two categories: Restricted and Designated. Restricted
reserves are those that are not considered available due to financial, accounting, or legal
restrictions. Designated reserves are established by Council policy for an intended purpose and
are available for use per Council direction.

In addition, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 54 Fund
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions requires that the City categorize fund
balances according to the following components:

• Non-spendable fund balance (inherently non-spendable)
• Restricted fund balance ( externally enforceable limitations on use)
• Committed fund balance (self-imposed limitations on use)
• Assigned fund balance (limitation resulting from intended use)
• Unassigned fund balance (residual net resources)

3. Guiding Principles:

Following sound financial practices and adhering to the Government Finance Officers' of
American (GFOA) recommendations, the City's designated reserves include reserves for known
and unknown contingencies, which take into consideration the:

• Diversity of revenue base
• Cyclical nature of revenue
• Changes in community priorities
• Frequency of budget surpluses/deficits
• Cash flow management practices

Page 1 I 3 

Attachment 1







City of Willows Attachment 1 
 Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

P a g e  1 | 3 

Attachment 2 
 

Subject: General Fund Reserve Policy Number:  XX-2025 

Department(s) Affected: 
  FINANCE 

Effective Date: August 26, 2025 

Supersedes: 2-1 Fund – Working 
Reserve (Adopted 6-12-1979) 

File Reference(s): Authority: City Council/City Manager 
Resolution: XX-2025 

Approved: CITY COUNCIL August 26, 2025 

1. Introduction:

This General Fund Reserve Policy (the “Reserve Policy”) of the CITY OF WILLOWS (the
“City”) was approved by the City Council of the City (the “Council”) on April 13, 2021. The
General Fund Reserve Policy may be amended by Council as it deems appropriate from time to
time in the prudent management of the finances of the City.

2. Background:

General Fund reserves are classified into two categories: Restricted and Designated. Restricted
reserves are those that are not considered available due to financial, accounting, or legal
restrictions. Designated reserves are established by Council policy for an intended purpose and
are available for use per Council direction.

In addition, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 54 Fund
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions requires that the City categorize fund
balances according to the following components:

• Non-spendable fund balance (inherently non-spendable)
• Restricted fund balance (externally enforceable limitations on use)
• Committed fund balance (self-imposed limitations on use)
• Assigned fund balance (limitation resulting from intended use)
• Unassigned fund balance (residual net resources)

3. Guiding Principles:

Following sound financial practices and adhering to the Government Finance Officers’ of
American (GFOA) recommendations, the City’s designated reserves include reserves for known
and unknown contingencies, which take into consideration the:

• Diversity of revenue base
• Cyclical nature of revenue
• Changes in community priorities
• Frequency of budget surpluses/deficits
• Cash flow management practices



City of Willows Attachment 1 
 Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

P a g e  2 | 3 

 

4. Policy – Reserve Levels:

The City will set aside funds into two designated reserves to address unforeseen emergencies or
disasters, significant changes in the economic environment, and key apparatus replacement.
These include the General Fund Reserve and the Apparatus Replacement Reserve, the City may
also set aside Capital and Special Projects Reserves as part of those projects or Capital
Improvement Plan Policies.

The City commits to rebuilding and maintaining the General Fund Reserve to a minimum of 25%
of General Fund annual operating expenditures (minus one-time expenditures) over the next five
years and by 2030. The City also commits to creating an Apparatus Replacement Reserve to
replace Fire Department and Public Works apparatus. The Reserve Policy is reviewed by the City
Council as part of the annual operating budget review and adoption process. Appropriations of
any General Fund reserves require formal Council authorization.

Should a catastrophic disaster or loss of a significant source of the City’s sales tax revenue occur,
the required reserve level should be adequate to meet the City’s immediate financial needs. For
example, in the event of natural disaster, the General Fund Reserve would provide necessary
coverage for basic operating expenses for approximately 90 days, including salary and benefits
for safety and non-safety City employees, while still meeting debt service obligations. This time
frame would enable the City to explore other available cash alternatives, including the use of
internal service funds. In addition, should the City experience a loss of a primary sales tax
contributor, the reserve level in the General Fund Reserve would provide for a transition period,
giving the City adequate time to realign its operating costs with available resources, while
minimizing service impacts.

Key General Fund Designated Reserves

General Fund Reserve: Funds reserved in the General Fund Reserve shall be used to mitigate
costs associated with unforeseen emergencies, including natural disasters or catastrophic events.
Should unforeseen and unavoidable events occur that require the expenditure of City resources
beyond those provided for in the annual budget, the City Manager or designee shall have
authority to approve General Fund Reserve appropriations. The City Manager or designee shall
then present to the City Council a budget amendment confirming the nature of the emergency and
authorizing the appropriation of reserve funds. These funds shall also be used to mitigate, should
they occur, annual budget revenue shortfalls (actual revenues less than projected revenues) due to
changes in the economic environment and/or one-time expenditures that will result in future
efficiencies and/or budgetary savings. Examples of “economic triggers” and one-time uses
include, but are not limited to:

• Significant decrease in property or sales tax, or other economically sensitive revenues;
• Loss of businesses considered to be significant sales tax generators;
• Reductions in revenue due to actions by the state/federal government;
• Workflow/technical system improvements to reduce ongoing, personnel costs and enhance

customer service;
• One-time maintenance of service levels due to significant economic/budget constraints; and
• One-time transitional costs associated with organizational restructuring to secure long-term

personnel cost savings.



City of Willows Attachment 1 
 Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

P a g e  3 | 3 

 

Apparatus Replacement Reserve: Funds reserved under this category are designated for key 
apparatus replacement as identified in the City’s Capital Improvement Plan, as there is no 
ongoing funding source to support the City’s apparatus replacement needs. These Reserve Funds 
will be funded by reimbursements received from CalFIRE for Strike Team use of Fire 
Department apparatus. 

5. Policy – Replenishment of Reserves:

In keeping with the principles discussed in this Reserve Policy, when either fund is used or below
the policy-directed reserve level(s), the City Council will develop a one to five year reserve
replenishment plan to meet the minimum threshold of 25% of General Fund ongoing and
operating expenditures, excluding one-time expenditures.

6. Policy – Excess Reserves:

At the end of each fiscal year, the Finance Director or designee will report on the audited year-
end budgetary fiscal results. Should actual General Fund revenues exceed expenditures and
encumbrances, a year-end operating surplus shall be reported. Any year-end surplus that results in
the General Fund, fund balance exceeding the level required by the Reserve Policy shall be
available for allocation for the following, subject to Council approval:

 Offset projected future deficits,
 Anticipated intergovernmental fiscal impacts, and/or
 One-time funding, non-recurring needs.

Upon funding of the above, any remaining surplus balances shall be allocated to the General Fund 
Reserve.  



Attachment 3 Formatted: Font: 10 pt, Font color: Red

Formatted: Right

Subject: General Fund Reserve Policy Number:  ___-____ 

Department(s) Affected: 
  FINANCE 

Effective Date: August 26, 2025April 
13, 2021 
Supersedes: 2-1 Fund – Working 
Reserve (Adopted 6-12-1979) 

File Reference(s): Authority: City Council/City Manager 
Resolution: XX-2025 

Approved: CITY COUNCIL August 26, 
202504/13/2021 

1. Introduction:

This General Fund Reserve Policy (the “Reserve Policy”) of the CITY OF WILLOWS (the
“City”) was approved by the City Council of the City (the “Council”) on April 13, 2021. The
General Fund Reserve Policy may be amended by Council as it deems appropriate from time to
time in the prudent management of the finances of the City.

2. Background:

General Fund reserves are classified into two categories: Restricted and Designated. Restricted
reserves are those that are not considered available due to financial, accounting, or legal
restrictions. Designated reserves are established by Council policy for an intended purpose and
are available for use per Council direction.

In addition, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 54 Fund
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions requires that the City categorize fund
balances according to the following components:

• Non-spendable fund balance (inherently non-spendable)
• Restricted fund balance (externally enforceable limitations on use)
• Committed fund balance (self-imposed limitations on use)
• Assigned fund balance (limitation resulting from intended use)
• Unassigned fund balance (residual net resources)

3. Guiding Principles:

Following sound financial practices and adhering to the Government Finance Officers’ of
American (GFOA) recommendations, the City’s designated reserves include reserves for known
and unknown contingencies, which take into consideration the:

• Diversity of revenue base
• Cyclical nature of revenue
• Changes in community priorities
• Frequency of budget surpluses/deficits
• Cash flow management practices



City of Willows 
 Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

P a g e  2 | 3 

4. Policy – Reserve Levels:

The City will set aside funds into two designated reserves to address unforeseen emergencies or
disasters, significant changes in the economic environment, and key infrastructure and capital
projectsapparatus replacement. These include the Catastrophic Reserve, and Budget Stabilization
ReserveGeneral Fund Reserve and the Apparatus Replacement Reserve, the City may also set
aside Capital and Special Projects Reserves as part of those projects or Capital Improvement Plan
Policies.

The City commits to rebuilding and maintaining the General Fundse Rreserves at to a minimum
of 25% of General Fund annual operating expenditures (minus one-time expenditures) over the
next five years and by 2030. The City also commits to creating an Appartus Replacement Reserve
to replace Fire Department and Public Works apparatus. , equally divided between the
Catastrophic Reserve (15%) and Budget Stabilization Reserve (10%), excluding any Capital and
Special Projects Reserves. The Reserve Policy is reviewed by the City Council as part of the 
annual operating budget review and adoption process. Appropriations of any General Fund 
reserves require formal Council authorization. 

Should a catastrophic disaster or loss of a significant source of the City’s sales tax revenue occur, 
the required reserve level should be adequate to meet the City’s immediate financial needs. For 
example, in the event of natural disaster, the Catastrophic General Fund Reserve would provide 
necessary coverage for basic operating expenses for approximately 90 days, including salary and 
benefits for safety and non-safety City employees, while still meeting debt service obligations. 
This time frame would enable the City to explore other available cash alternatives, including the 
use of internal service funds. LikewiseIn addition, should the City experience a loss of a primary 
sales tax contributor, the reserve level in the Budget Stabilization FundGeneral Fund Reserve 
would provide for a transition period, giving the City adequate time to realign its operating costs 
with available resources, while minimizing service impacts. 

Key General Fund Designated Reserves 

Catastrophic ReserveGeneral Fund Reserve: Funds reserved under this categoryin the General 
Fund Reserve shall be used to mitigate costs associated with unforeseen emergencies, including 
natural disasters or catastrophic events. Should unforeseen and unavoidable events occur that 
require the expenditure of City resources beyond those provided for in the annual budget, the City 
Manager or designee shall have authority to approve Catastrophic ReserveGeneral Fund Reserve 
appropriations. The City Manager or designee shall then present to the City Council a budget 
amendment confirming the nature of the emergency and authorizing the appropriation of reserve 
funds. These funds  

Budget Stabilization Reserve: Funds reserved under this category shall also be used to mitigate, 
should they occur, annual budget revenue shortfalls (actual revenues less than projected revenues) 
due to changes in the economic environment and/or one-time expenditures that will result in 
future efficiencies and/or budgetary savings. Examples of “economic triggers” and one-time uses 
include, but are not limited to: 

• Significant decrease in property or sales tax, or other economically sensitive revenues;
• Loss of businesses considered to be significant sales tax generators;



City of Willows 
 Administrative Procedure & Policy Manual 

P a g e  3 | 3 

• Reductions in revenue due to actions by the state/federal government;
• Workflow/technical system improvements to reduce ongoing, personnel costs and enhance

customer service;
• One-time maintenance of service levels due to significant economic/budget constraints; and
• One-time transitional costs associated with organizational restructuring to secure long-term 

personnel cost savings. 

Capital and Special Projects ReserveApparatus Replacement Reserve: Funds reserved under 
these categoriesthis category are designated for key infrastructure and capital/special 
projectsapparatus replacement as identified in the City’s Capital Improvement Plan, as there is no 
ongoing funding source to support the City’s capital needs.apparatus replacement needs. These 
Reserve Funds will be funded by reimbursements received from CalFIRE for Strike Team use of 
Fire Department apparatus. 

5. Policy – Replenishment of Reserves:

In keeping with the principles discussed in this Reserve Policy, when either fund is used or below
the policy-directed reserve level(s), the City Council will develop a 1 to 5 yearone to five year
reserve replenishment plan to meet the minimum threshold of 25% of General Fund ongoing and ,
operating expenditures, excluding one-time expenditures.

6. Policy – Excess Reserves:

At the end of each fiscal year, the Administrative ServicesFinance Director or designee will
reports on the audited year-end budgetary fiscal results. Should actual General Fund revenues
exceed expenditures and encumbrances, a year-end operating surplus shall be reported. Any year-
end surplus that results in the General Fund, fund balance exceeding the level required by the
Reserve Policy shall be available for allocation for the following, subject to Council approval:

• Offset projected future deficits,
• Anticipated intergovernmental fiscal impacts, and/or
• One-time funding, non-recurring needs.

Upon funding of the above, any remaining surplus balances shall be allocated to the General Fund 
Reserve. divided equally between the Budget Stabilization Reserve and Capital and Special 
Projects Reserve for appropriation within the Capital Improvement Program budget. 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Bulleted + Level: 1 +
Aligned at:  0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"



Agenda Item #10e 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: August 26, 2025 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject: Sale of City Owned Property 

Recommendation: 

Adopt the attached Resolution XX-2025 (Attachment 1) approving staff to take all necessary steps in 
accordance with California’s Surplus Land Act, to sell Assessor Parcel Numbers (APN) 002-101-009, 
005-101-006, and 003-113-006.

Rationale for Recommendation:

The State’s Surplus Land Act requires the Council to adopt a resolution and satisfy specific 
requirements in order to publicly sell surplus land as approved at the March 25, 2025, City Council 
meeting. 

Background: 

At the March 25, 2025, City Council Meeting, the City Manager was authorized to sell city owned 
properties, Assessor Parcel Numbers (APN) 002-101-009, 005-101-006, and 003-113-006 in accordance 
with State law and municipal best practices. The attached resolution and authorization are the next 
steps in the process.  

Discussion & Analysis: 

According to the California Surplus Land Act and based on certain statutory exemptions applicable to 
these particular properties, the city must take the following steps in order to move forward with the 
sale of its surplus land:  

1. Via resolution (Resolution XX-2025), the City Council declares the three properties “exempt
surplus land” at a regular scheduled meeting (August 26 proposed action).

2. Supply findings and resolution to HCD per Section 400(e) of HCD’s Surplus Land Act Guidelines
at least 30 days prior to disposition (as cited in Attachment 1).

3. As deemed “exempt surplus land,” the city may sell the land without complying with the
California Surplus Land Act.



4. However, the City must:

a. Publish Resolution XX-2025 (Attachment 1) declaring the property exempt from the
Surplus Land Act and with the intention to sell said properties at least one time in a
newspaper;

b. Post copies of the resolution on the subject properties; and

c. Hold a public hearing to listen to potential protests.

Once all of these requirements are satisfied, the City may publicly sell these properties. Should the 
Council approve the recommendation, staff recommend offering the two residential properties (e.g., 
139 and 145 North Lassen Street) to the current tenants at the appraised value (Attachment 3) first 
with a 30-day first-right refusal before marketing them on the open market. If the occupying tenants 
are not interested in purchasing the properties, then staff recommend moving forward with marketing 
and an open public sale of the properties.  

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

The proposed action is consistent with the Council’s Fiscal Stability Priority, Goal #2: Seek Cost Savings 
and Revenue Generation Opportunities. 

Fiscal Impact: 

There is no fiscal impact by adopting the attached resolution. 

Attachment:  

 Attachment 1: Resolution XX-2025:
o Exhibit A: Legal Descriptions

 Attachment 2: March 25, 2025, Staff Report and Attachments
 Attachment 3: Appraisals for 139 and 145 North Lassen Street



Attachment 1 

City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2025 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
DECLARING CERTAIN CITY-OWNED PROPERTIES AS EXEMPT SURPLUS LAND, DECLARING THE 

CITY’S INTENT TO SELL SAID PROPERTIES (ASSESSOR PARCEL NUMBERS 002-101-009, 005-101-
006, AND 003-113-006) IN ACCORDANCE WITH CALIFORNIA LAW, AND FIXING THE TIME AND 

PLACE FOR RECEIVING ORAL OR WRITTEN PROTESTS TO SUCH SALE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows (“City”) currently owns in fee the certain real property 
generally located at 139 North Lassen Street and which is more particularly identified as Parcel 
1 on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows (“City”) currently owns in fee the certain real property 
generally located at 145 North Lassen Street and which is more particularly identified as Parcel 
2 on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Willows (“City”) currently owns in fee the certain real property 
generally located at the vacant lot at the corner of South Yolo Street and East Sycamore Street, 
and which is more particularly identified as Parcel 3 on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a 
part hereof; and 

WHEREAS, the City has no use for these properties and desires to sell the Property on 
the open market; and 

WHEREAS, California’s Surplus Land Act (Government Code Section 54220 et seq. and 
hereafter the “Act”) applies when a local agency disposes of “surplus land”, as that term is 
defined in Government Code section 54221; and 

WHEREAS, the Act exempts surplus land from its requirements, including, pursuant to 
Government Code section 54221(f)(1)(B), land that is less than one-half acre in area and is not 
contiguous to land owned by a state or local agency that is used for open-space or low- and 
moderate-income housing purposes; and 

WHEREAS, Parcel 1 measures less than one-half acre in area and is not contiguous to 
land owned by a state or local agency that is used for open-space or low- and moderate-income 
housing purposes, and thus qualifies as exempt surplus land per Government Code section 
54221(f)(1)(B); and 

WHEREAS, Parcel 2 measures less than one-half acre in area and is not contiguous to 
land owned by a state or local agency that is used for open-space or low- and moderate-income 
housing purposes, and thus qualifies as exempt surplus land per Government Code section 
54221(f)(1)(B); and 



WHEREAS, Parcel 3 measures less than one-half acre in area and is not contiguous to 
land owned by a state or local agency that is used for open-space or low- and moderate-income 
housing purposes, and thus qualifies as exempt surplus land per Government Code section 
54221(f)(1)(B). 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS 
AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Incorporation of Recitals. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein and made an operative part of this resolution. 

Section 2. CEQA Findings. This resolution has been reviewed with respect to the applicability of 
the California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code section 21000 et seq.) 
(“CEQA”). City staff determined that the declaration of Parcels 1, 2, and 3 as exempt surplus 
land under the Act does not constitute a project under CEQA, and no environmental 
assessment is required. Pursuant to CEQA, the City Council directs staff to file a Notice of 
Exemption with the County Clerk within five (5) working days of the adoption of this resolution. 

Section 3. Declaration of Exempt Surplus Land. The City Council hereby declares that i) Parcels 
1, 2, and 3, are not necessary for the City’s use, and ii) Parcels 1, 2, and 3 are exempt from the 
Act pursuant to Government Code section 54221(f)(1)(B). The basis for this declaration is the 
finding that Parcels 1, 2, and 3 are each separately, and individually parcels that measure less 
than one-half acres in area and are not contiguous to land owned by a state or local agency that 
is used for open-space or low- and moderate-income housing purposes. The City Council directs 
staff to provide a copy of this resolution to the Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) within five (5) working days of the adoption of this resolution.  

Section 4. Public Convenience and Necessity Findings. The City Council hereby finds and 
determines that public convenience and necessity require the sale of Parcels 1, 2, and 3. The 
factors demonstrating the public convenience and necessity for the sale of these parcels 
include, but are not limited to, i) relieve the City of property maintenance responsibility for 
these surplus properties; ii) mitigate potential future liabilities; and iii) provide needed revenue 
to the City. 

Section 5. Declaration of Intent to Sell; Fixing of Hearing. The City Council hereby declares its 
intent to sell Parcels 1, 2, and 3 and fixes October 14, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. or as soon thereafter 
that the matter can be heard at the City of Willows, City Council Chambers, located at 201 
North Lassen Street, Willows, CA 95988, as the date, time, and location for hearing any protests 
to the proposed sale of the properties.  

Section 6. Publication and Posting. In compliance with Government Code section 37423, the 
City Council hereby directs staff to publish this resolution at least once in a daily newspaper 
prior to October 14, 2025, and to post this resolution for not less than ten (10) days in at least 
three (3) conspicuous places upon the properties prior to October 14, 2025. 



Section 7. Severability. If any provision of this Resolution is held invalid, the remainder of this 
Resolution shall not be affected by such invalidity, and the provisions of this Resolution are 
severable. 

Section 8. Effective Date. This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council on this 26TH day of 
August 2025, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

__________________________________ ___________________________________ 
Evan Hutson, Mayor  Karleen Price, City Clerk 



EXHIBIT A 

Parcel 1 – 139 North Lassen Street (APN 002-101-009) .15 Acres/6,534 Sq. Ft. 

Legal Description: 

The land referred to herein is situated in the State of California, County of Glenn, described as 
follows: commencing at the Southeast corner of Block II of Zumwalt’s Extension to the town of 
Willows, and running thence Northerly along the Eastern line of said block fifty-six and 29/100 
(56.29) feet to a point; thence West at a right angle one hundred and fifty (150) feet to a point; 
thence South at a right angle fifty-six and 29/200 (56.29) feet to a point; thence East at a right 
angle one hundred and fifty feet (150) to the Southeast corner of said block and place of 
beginnings as the said block is shown and designated on the official map of said town of 
Willows and its extensions, filed April 10th, 1888, in the office of the County Recorder of the 
County of Colusa, State of California in which County the lands herein described were  then 
situate, excepting therefrom the South 11.29 feet. 

Parcel 2 – 145 North Lassen Street (APN 002-101-006) .15 Acres/6,534 Sq. Ft. 

Legal Description: 

Commending at a point on the Eastern line of Bock 2 of Zumwalt’s Extension to the Town of 
Willows, as said block is shown and designated on the official map of the said Town of Willows 
and its extension, filed April 10, 1888 in the office of the County Recorder of the County of 
Colusa, State of California, distant thereon 56.39 feet North of the Southeast corner of said 
Block and running thence Northerly along the Eastern line of said Block, 45 feet to a point; 
thence West at a right angle 150 feet to a point; thence South at a right angle 45 feet to a point; 
thence East at a right angle 150 feet to the Eastern line of said block and the place of 
commencement.  

APN:002-101-006-0 

Parcel 3 – Vacant Lot located at South Yolo Street and East Sycamore Street (APN 003-113-
006) .16 Acres/6,969 Sq. Ft.

Legal Description: 

Lots 1 and 2 of Block 31 in Pittsburg Addition to the Town of Willows, according to the official 
map or plat of Pittsburg Addition and re-subdivision of Blocks 23 to 34 inclusive of the Town of 

Exhibit A



Willows, filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of  the County of Glenn, State of 
California, on April 21, 1910, in Book 2 of Maps and Surveys, at page 220. 



Attachment 2 
 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 
Date:   March 25, 2025 

To:   Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From:   Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject:  Sale of City-Owned Property 
 

Recommendation: 

Authorize the City Manager to sell city owned properties, Assessor Parcel Numbers (APN) 002-101-009, 
005-101-006, and 003-113-006 in accordance with State law and best municipal practices.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

While the 2024 1.5% sales tax measure was approved by the voters, the end of FY 2024-25 and the 
beginning of FY 2025-26 will be lean with little General Fund Reserve. Since the three properties in 
question are residential and of little asset value to the City, the sale of said properties could be used to 
increase and improve the City’s General Fund Reserve for emergencies, cashflow purposes, and/or 
earmarked for specific activities.   

Background:  

On October 15, 2024, staff presented to the Council a discussion only item to consider future stop gap 
financing options and measures (Attachment 1) to address concerns of depleting General Fund 
Reserves and the anticipated need for cashflow, especially in the event of a municipal emergency. The 
discussion item assumed that the sales tax measure would be approved by the voters. The 
presentation and discussion recommended combining two stop gap measures for additional financing: 
sell three city owned residential properties and apply for a line of credit.  

Should the Council approve the sale of the city owned properties, the recommendation would be to 
review the outcome of the sales and impact to the General Fund Reserve before seeking approval for a 
line of credit. If warranted, staff would return to Council to consider approval of the line of credit at a 
later date.  

Discussion & Analysis:  

As Attachment 2 illustrates, there is an anticipated General Fund deficit of $153,071 by the end of FY 
2024-25. In FY 2025-26, there is a relatively low General Fund Reserve and cashflow anticipated of 
$236,471 (~4% Reserve). Rather than potentially incur additional debt, staff recommends the sale of 
the three proposed properties – two houses and one residential vacant lot. Net revenue of 
approximately $500,000 is anticipated from the sale of all three properties.  



Revenue Generated 

Currently, the City generates the following annual revenue from renting two of the three residential 
properties:  

 139 North Lassen Street - $12,468 per year, and  
 145 North Lassen Street - $11,760 per year.  

The total revenue generated from the two rental properties is $24,228. The other residential property 
is a 6,969 square foot vacant lot in the city limits that is not rented and managed by the city. It is zoned 
R-1 and can accommodate one single family home.  

Expenditures 

On average, the City spends the following amounts per year on the two properties:  

 Staff time (e.g., for repairs, maintenance): $2400 
 Equipment and materials: $800 (e.g., $779 between March 2024 and March2025) 
 Property taxes: $562.71 
 Sewage: $1590.96 
 Property Insurance Annual Premium: $1276  

The total expense of the properties to the City is approximately $6,608 per year.  

Potential Property Value 

Based on the current insured amount for each house with a 3% CPI escalator, the houses’ estimated 
value as insured are:  

 139 North Lassen Street – $236,318, and  
 145 North Lassen Street – $229,435.  

Based on the current insurance, the reconstruction cost is estimated to be $290,000 each.  

Other Considerations 

In addition to the monetary considerations (e.g., revenue, expenses), it’s also worth considering long-
term liability of these properties and the tenants in the event of natural disaster or emergency (e.g., 
flooding, emergency housing). The City has an additional liability of caring for tenants in the event of 
an emergency that could account for unknown costs.  

In addition, based on current state law and after conferring with the City’s PD consultant, the two 
residential homes are not suitable as a police/Sheriff substation or temporary police station. 
Furthermore, the houses are not needed for additional space nor are they suitable for the Fire 
Department and/or other city departments. Any improvements to the houses to prepare them for city 
use would be more expensive than simply renting and locating modular office buildings on city-owned 
property (e.g., city hall parking lot, vacant lot on North Murdock Avenue behind city hall).  

Benefits from the Sale of Properties 

The sale of these three residential properties would benefit the City by:  



 Increasing the property tax rolls, thereby, increasing the property taxes that the city receives.  
 Increasing the housing stock and private investment in the city.  
 Reducing the City’s general liability for injuries or damage that may occur on the property due 

to negligence and/or disrepair.  
 Reducing the workload of the Public Works Division and making crew more efficient by 

removing the responsibility and liability of managing the properties and providing the Division 
with more time to work on other projects and deliver city services.  

 Discontinuing the City’s engagement in residential property management, which is specialized 
and outside the scope of typical city services and expertise (e.g., rental agreement 
enforcement). 

 Reducing the need for major cleanup and repairs when tenants move out.  

In summary, staff recommend preparing all three properties for sale, appraising them, and hiring a 
realtor or broker to sell them (via a competitive process). Initially, the sale of the residential homes 
could be offered to the occupying tenants at the appraised and market value if tenants are interested. 
If not interested, the city would move forward with a traditional sale of properties.  

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

The proposed financing options are consistent with Council Priority #1: Financial Stability.  

Fiscal Impact: 

Staff projects that the City would generate approximately $500,000 by selling the three city owned 
properties.  

Attachment: 

 Attachment 1: October 15, 2024, Staff Report – FY 2025-26 Stop Gap Financing Options 
 Attachment 2: Financial Forecast Update (based on collection of new 1.5% sales tax) 



 

 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 
Date:   October 15, 2024  

To:   Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From:   Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject:  FY 2025-26 Stop-Gap Financing Options  
 

Recommendation: 

Receive the staff presentation and provide any feedback. Based on Council direction, staff will return 
with a recommended action after the November 5, 2024, election should Measure I be approved by 
the voters. 

Rationale for Recommendation: 

Should Measure I, the 1.5% sales tax measure on the November 2024 ballot, be approved by the 
voters, the city will still require gap financing to bridge the city’s cashflow needs in fiscal year 2025-26 
until the new sales tax revenue is generated and received.  

Background:  

Since April 2023, the Council and staff have had multiple explicit and public discussions about the City’s 
ongoing structural deficit and use of General Fund Reserves to balance the City’s budget, as well as the 
immediate need for increased revenue or face deep cuts to city services. As a result of those ongoing 
discussions, the majority Council approved placing a 1.5% sales tax measure on the November 2024 
ballot in April 2024.  

While the potential passage of the sales tax measure will bring considerable financial relief to the city 
and cure the General Fund’s structural deficit, it is anticipated that there will be cashflow constraints 
by fiscal year 2025-26 (until the new revenue is received) and additional stop-gap funding will be 
necessary. As a result, staff has developed the following possible interim financing strategies to 
support city services until there is a steady and sufficient flow of sales tax revenue to sustain the 
General Fund.  

Discussion & Analysis:  

There are basically the following two options for providing interim financing to support the General 
Fund in fiscal year 2025-26:  

 The Sale of City-Owned Property (Attachments 1), and/or 
 Line of Credit/Tax Anticipation Note.  



 

The Sale of City-Owned Property 

As Attachment 1 lists, the city owns eight salable properties with the following zoning:  

 Three parcels, residential,  
 One parcel, RP: Business/Professional 
 One parcel, GC: General Commercial,  
 One parcel, Public Facilities and Services, and  
 Two parcels, MH: Heavy Manufacturing and Public Facilities and Services.  

For the purposes of generating additional revenue from city-owned properties that do not serve or 
facilitate city business, staff recommends disposing of the three properties zoned residential.  

For the time being, and until the Council and staff may assess the highest and best use of the other five 
properties, staff recommends keeping those properties. In addition, staff recommends reviewing and 
more closely examining these properties and their unique attributes as part of updating the Council 
Priorities and Goals in 2025. After further assessment, the Council may wish to develop a long-term 
strategy for development and disposition of the properties based on Council goals, the community 
vision and the demands of the marketplace.  

Should the Council approve selling the three residential properties, staff estimates that approximately 
$500,000 in revenue would be generated.  

While not recommended for sale at this time, staff also included a 2019 appraisal of the city-owned 
properties adjacent to the city’s wastewater treatment plant currently leased for the cultivation of rice, 
as well as house the installed solar panels (Attachment 2). The appraisal was included to provide the 
Council with an idea of the potential one-time revenue that could be generated from the sale of those 
properties if desired. Based on 2019 market values, the appraised value for those parcels was 
estimated at slightly more than $1 million.   

Tax Anticipation Note 

Other recommended options include a Tax Anticipation Note (TAN). Should Measure I be approved by 
the voters, A TAN could be issued on a tax-exempt basis and secured by the approved sales tax for an 
amount up to $2 million.  

TANs allow public agencies to finance current operations before tax revenues are received. When the 
taxes are received, they are used to pay back the loan/note. The term of a TAN is typically 12 months 
or less. However, an annual renewal provision may be included, provided that such annual renewal will 
require the City to approve a new resolution and documentation which will be substantially similar to 
the documents created for the original Credit Facility. 

The TAN would likely be a variable interest rate between 4-6.33%. There would be an annual fee of 
approximately $15,000 and legal fees and expenses are anticipated to be approximately $20,000.  

Other Options – Not Recommended 

The City could also consider restructuring its Pension Obligation Bond (POB) to delay payments and 
thereby reserve General Fund revenues over the next few years (Attachment 3). However, staff does 



 

not recommend this option, because the city would lose the savings it generated by bonding in the first 
place, and it would also lose the interest rate that was locked in at the time that the POB was issued.  

Another option is it to borrow a Taxable Working Capital Loan (Attachment 3), which is basically 
borrowing against city assets that are not already being used for collateral by other debt. It’s 
anticipated that the City could borrow up to approximately $6 million based on this model. Again, 
however, staff does not recommend this option because the city could end up borrowing considerably 
more money than it needs resulting in a high debt service.   

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

The proposed financing options are consistent with Council Priority #1: Financial Stability.  

Fiscal Impact: 

There is no fiscal impact at this time.  

Attachment:  

 Attachment 1: City Owned Properties 
 Attachment 2: Not included – Not Relevant to March 11 Agenda Item 
 Attachment 3: Not included – Not Relevant to March 11 Agenda Item 

 

 



145 N. Lassen St. 
Developed Land- Rental House 

002-101-006 
.15 Acres 

6,534 Sq. Ft. 
Year Built – 1935 

Two Bedroom – One Bathroom 
1,060 Sq. Ft. 

Approx. Value - $230,000 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

139 N. Lassen St. 

Developed Land- Rental House 
002-101-006 

.15 Acres 
6,534 Sq. Ft. 

Year Built – 1928 
Two Bedroom – One Bathroom 

1,128 Sq. Ft. 
Approx. Value - $235,000 

 

 

 
 
 
 



N. Ventura St. and HWY 162 
Vacant Land  

003-142-004 
.79 Acres 

34,412 Sq. Ft. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 



N. Butte St. and French St. 
Vacant Land  

Three Contiguous Properties 
 
 

Norh Parcel 
005-363-009 

.18 Acres 
7,840 Sq. Ft. 

Middle Parcel 
005-363-010 

.15 Acres 
6,534 Sq. Ft. 

South Parcel 
005-363-011 

.14 Acres 
6,098 Sq. Ft. 

 
Combined 
.47 Acres 

20,472 Sq. Ft. 
 

 

 



South of City Hall Parking Lot 
Vacant Land  

002-101-010 
.51 Acres 

22,215 Sq. Ft. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



S. Yolo St. and E. Sycamore St.  
Vacant Land 

003-113-006 
.16 Acres 

6,969 Sq. Ft.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Willows  
Vacant Land  

017-170-005 
10 Acres 

435,600 Sq. Ft. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Willows  
Vacant Land 

 
017-170-050 

124.850 Acres 
5,438,666 Sq. Ft. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 



City of Willows 
Financial Forecast Update 

(Includes Projected Forecast of New 1.5% Sales Tax Measure) 
 

 
Forecast Assumptions: 
 
• Maintenance of Police / Safety contract costs throughout term of forecast: 

o $2,355,000 in FY 2025-26 
• Conservative revenue growth for new Measure I Sales Tax 

o $1.9 million in FY 2025-26 
o Grows by 2% for each year thereafter 

• Labor Negotiations: 
o Potential Salary Increases 

 
 

UPDATED FORECAST: 
 

 
 



139 N. Lassen St.

Developed Land- Rental House 
002-101-006 

.15 Acres 
6,534 Sq. Ft. 

Year Built – 1928 
Two Bedroom – One Bathroom 

1,128 Sq. Ft. 
Approx. Value - $235,000 

Attachment 3



145 N. Lassen St. 
Developed Land- Rental House 

002-101-006 
.15 Acres 

6,534 Sq. Ft. 
Year Built – 1935 

Two Bedroom – One Bathroom 
1,060 Sq. Ft. 

Approx. Value - $230,000 
 

 

 

 

 

 



COMMENTS AND 
REPORTS 


	5. Attachment 4- CC COAS
	GENERAL

	1. Staff Report- Cali Love
	2. Attachment 1- Resolution Cali Love
	2. Attachment 1- Resolution Cali Love
	3. Attachment 2- PC Resolution OCR
	4. Attachment 3- PC COAS Final
	5. Attachment 4- CC COAS
	GENERAL

	Joint Council - Library Board Meeting
	General Fund Reserve Policy Staff Report
	Attachment 1 - General Fund Reserve Policy
	Attachment 2 - General Fund Reserve - CLEAN FINAL
	Attachment 3 - General Fund Reserve - REDLINE
	Sale of City Owned Property - Staff Report Final
	Attachment 1 - Resolution Final
	Exhibit A to Attachment 1 - Property Sale findings_Reso_Final
	Comments & Reports
	Attachment 1.pdf
	Staff Report - Stop Gap Financing Options
	Attachment 1




